

Ordinary Council Meeting MINUTES Tuesday 13 December 2022



INDEX

1.	Official Opening	4
2.	Attendance, Apologies and Leave of Absence Previously Approved	4
3.	Public Question Time	
4.	Petitions/Deputations	
5.	Applications for Leave of Absence	
6. 7	Confirmation of Minutes from Previous Meeting	
7. 8.	Announcements by the Member Presiding Without Discussion Matters for Which the Meeting may be Closed	
o. 9.	Disclosure of Interest	
	Reports to Council	
	10.1. Development Services Reports	
	10.1.1. Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove - Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling	12
	10.1.2. Draft Local Planning Policy 33 (LPP33) - Tree Retention	35
	10.2. Asset Services Reports	51
	10.3. Corporate Services Reports	51
	10.4. Office of the CEO Reports	
	10.4.1. Code of Conduct - Complaints Management	51
	10.4.2. Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA) Best Practice Governance Review	57
	10.4.3. Nature Fund Proposal	67
	10.5. Chief Executive Officer Reports	73
	10.5.1. Draft Monthly Financial Statements to 30 November 2022	73
	10.5.2. Rates Debtors Report for the Period Ended 30 November 2022	80
	10.5.3. Debtors and Creditors Report for the period ended 30 November 2022	85
	10.5.4. South West Native Title Settlement - City of Kalamunda Comments on Land Base Consultation - Land List 1324	
	10.5.5. Local Government Elections - Appointment of Electoral Commissioner	100
	10.5.6. Annual Report 2022	105
	10.6. Audit & Risk Committee	
	10.6.2. A&R9.3.1 Information Systems Audit Results for the year ended 30 June 2022	
	10.6.3. A&R9.3.2 Adoption of Annual Financial Report 2021/2022	
11.	Motions of Which Previous Notice has been Given 11.1. Fire Hazard Reduction Notice Inspections	
12	Questions by Members Without Notice	
	Questions by Members of Which Due Notice has been Given	
	Urgent Business Approved by the Presiding Member or by Decision	

15. Meeting Closed to the Public	113
16. Tabled Documents	113
17. Closure	113

1. Official Opening

The Presiding Member opened the meeting at 6:34pm and welcomed Councillors, Staff and Members of the Public Gallery. The Presiding Member also acknowledged the Traditional Owners of the land on which we meet the Whadjuk Noongar people.

2. Attendance, Apologies and Leave of Absence Previously Approved

Councillors

South East Ward

John Giardina Janelle Sewell Geoff Stallard **South West Ward**

Mary Cannon Kellie Miskiewicz Brooke O'Donnell

North West Ward

Sue Bilich Lisa Cooper (by telephone) Dylan O'Connor **North Ward** Andrew Osenton Kathy Ritchie

Margaret Thomas JP (Mayor) Presiding Member

Members of Staff

Chief Executive Officer

Rhonda Hardy Executive Team

Gary Ticehurst - Director Corporate Services Brett Jackson - Director Asset Services Peter Varelis - Director Development Services

Management Team

Andrew Fowler-Tutt - Manager Approval Services Chris Lodge - Manager Strategic Planning James Wickens - Manager Community Safety & Environmental Health Nicole O'Neill - Manager Customer & Public Relations

Administration Support

Darrell Forrest - Governance Advisor Donna McPherson - Executive Assistant to the CEO Members of the Public 51

Members of the Press Nil.

Apologies Nil.

Leave of Absence Previously Approved Nil.

3. Public Question Time

3.1. Questions Taken on Notice at Previous Meeting

- 3.1.1 Charles Dornan, Wattle Grove
- Q1 How many hectares of mature native vegetation within the City of Kalamunda portion of the Roe Logistics Park will be bulldozed?
- A1. Roe Logistics Industrial Area covers approximately 17 ha of industrial zoned land. Pre-development, the site comprised a mixture of trees and cleared areas typically associated with the former special rural zoning of the site. The extent of clearing undertaken of native vegetation is difficult to quantify as the vegetation included a mixture of native and non-native species. Environmental considerations were considered by the State Government and specifically the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) as part of the Metropolitan Region Scheme and Local Planning Scheme amendments.
- Q2. As there is Councillor representation on all JDAPs have councillor representatives made a case for environmental protections to be applied to development within the Roe Logistics Park or submitted a minority report, if over ruled?
- A2. Councillors consider relevant environmental matters as part of the Responsible Authority Report (RAR) prepared by the City of Kalamunda for all JDAP applications.

3.2. Public Question Time

3.2.1 Diane English, High Wycombe

Amended LSP for HWS Table 3 – Conditions of Subdivision and Development, Item 21.2 says noise is to be mentioned on Titles of the front row of houses.

Why should the residents be penalised with this on their Titles when it's because of something the City has done.

- Amendment No 48 says "..*importantly no noise*" from fabrication businesses.
- Stage 1 is a Light Industry zone and
- an adequate transition zone means no noise for the residential area
- Q1 Will the City therefore please remove Item 21.2 from the Amended LSP for High Wycombe South?
- Q2. Why didn't the City consult with residents along the central part of Sultana Road West about the type of businesses in Stage 1 and managing the impact of Stage 1 industrial development.
- A. Taken on notice.

3.2.2 <u>Michael Ryan, High Wycombe</u>

The WAPC definition of Light Industry is that a business in a Light Industry zone is one which does not emit noise beyond its boundary. Council's vote on Amendment No 48 LPS3 (August 2012) gave the City discretion to approve businesses with a component of fabrication to operate in the Light Industry Area. The D for Discretion - Classification carried with it the WAPC restriction of the definition of Light Industry. Stage 1 LSP (2013) did not provide for, or mention, businesses with a fabrication component. It only referred to Light Industry.

The City assumes all the risk and responsibility for D classification approvals given for the Stage 1 Light Industry Area. Businesses granted approval by the City to build a business in Stage 1, rely on the City to have made the right decision given the rules for D classifications set up by the City. The City's decision could otherwise create unexpected business risks for them especially when they are businesses which historically are likely to cause noise or produce odour. There are a few businesses in Stage 1 that on face value come into that category.

Q1. Has the City ever approved a business in Stage 1 knowing it will emit noise or odour beyond its boundary or might reasonably be expected to emit noise or odour beyond its boundary?

Classification means a use which is prohibited in the Stage 1 Light Industry area, renamed the Industrial Development Zone. Question is:

- Q2. Does the City consider any business operating in the Stage 1 Industrial
 Development Zone would currently be assessed as an X
 Classification according to the City's LPS3 Amendment No 48. If so, please
 name that business, or businesses. Refer attachment LPS3 Clarification of compliance
- A. Taken on notice.
- 3.2.3 David Downing, High Wycombe
- 1. How many street trees has the City planted in each of the past 5 financial years, and where were they planted?
- 2. How many of the trees planted were paid for by external sources such as private landowners, developers, government departments etc? For example, the November Debtors report shows an amount of \$9,185 owed by the PTA for supply and install of street trees.
- A. Taken on notice.
- 3.2.4 <u>Peter Forrest, Kalamunda</u>
- Q. I have been in conversation with the EPA about recent developments at 720 Welshpool Road East relating to environmental issues, and ask tonight if the City proposes to engage with the EPA?

- A. The City has regard to advice from state agencies during the application process. The City has had regard to the document you have mentioned. It should also be noted that between the presentation of the report at the Public Agenda Briefing Forum and the publication of the Ordinary Council Meeting agenda additional commentary has been provided within the report and additional conditions have been recommended as a result.
- 3.2.5 Charles Dornan, Wattle Grove
- Q1. Has the City sought legal advice in relation to the procedural fairness of the current process for fire mitigation inspections and has the City undertaken any consultation with insurance companies?
- A1. Taken on Notice
- Q2. Can the appropriate city office clarify if all city officer undertaking fire mitigation inspections have national recognised training certificates under the Australian Quality Training framework?
- A2. Taken on Notice
- Q3. Bruce Road has been closed in order to progress a housing development for some time. Can the CEO please explain why the City has allowed the removal of significant trees on the verge and why the developer was not required to plan around these tree.
- A3. The planning framework in Cell 9 (Wattle Grove) has been developed many decades ago and the rezoning of the land was prior to the development of the significant tree policy. The City has regard to technical matters and in some instances there is the need for the removal of trees to facility services. These are offset by landscaping outcomes through the development processes.

4. Petitions/Deputations

- A deputation was presented by Victoria Laurie in relation to Item 10.1.2
 Draft Local Planning Policy 33 Tree Retention. Ms Laurie spoke in favour of the recommendation as presented.
- 4.2 A deputation was presented by Steve Gates, representing NRPG, in relation to Item 10.1.2 Draft Local Planning Policy 33 - Tree Retention. Mr Gates spoke in favour of the recommendation as presented.

- 4.3 A deputation was presented by Steve Gates, representing NRPG, in relation to Item 10.4.3 Nature Fund Proposal. Mr Gates spoke in favour of the recommendation as presented.
- 4.4 A deputation was approved for Anistasia Makin and was presented by a representative, B Dornan. in relation to Item 10.1.1 Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling. Ms Makin's deputation spoke against the recommendation.
- 4.5 A deputation was presented by Patrick Miller, James Miller and Mary Johnston in relation to Item 10.1.1 Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove - Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling. The deputation spoke against the recommendation.
- A deputation was presented by Patrick Miller, James Miller and Mary Johnston in relation to Item 10.1.1 Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove - Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling. The deputation spoke against the recommendation.
- 4.7 A deputation was presented by Theresa Miller 10.1.1 Lot 150 (720)
 Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling. Mrs Miller spoke against the recommendation.
- 4.8 A deputation was presented by Enzo Biagioni-Froundist, representing Peritas Group, Harley Dykstra, in relations to item 10.1.1 Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove - Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling. Mr Biagioni-Froundist spoke in favour of the recommendation.
- 4.9 A deputation was presented by Dick Lovegrove in relations to 11.1 Fire Hazard Reduction Notice. Mr Lovegrove spoke in relation to fire mitigation

5. Applications for Leave of Absence

5.1 Nil.

6. Confirmation of Minutes from Previous Meeting

6.1 <u>RESOLVED OCM 174/2022</u>

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 22 November 2022, as published and circulated, are confirmed as a true and accurate record of the proceedings.

Moved: Cr John Giardina

Seconded: Cr Brooke O'Donnell

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

- 7. Announcements by the Member Presiding Without Discussion
- 7.1 Nil.

8. Matters for Which the Meeting may be Closed

8.1 Item 10.1.1 Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove - Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling – Confidential Attachment - DVC Technical Note 11-07-2022

<u>Reason for Confidentiality</u>: Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23 (2) (f) - "a matter that if disclosed, could be reasonably expected to - (i) impair the effectiveness of any lawful method or procedure for preventing, detecting, investigating or dealing with any contravention or possible contravention of the law; (ii) endanger the security of the local government's property; or (iii) prejudice the maintenance or enforcement of a lawful measure for protecting public safety"

- 8.2 Item 10.1.2 Draft Local Planning Policy 33 (LPP33) Tree Retention Confidential Attachment - Confidential Submitters List <u>Reason for Confidentiality:</u> Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23 (2) (b) - "the personal affairs of any person."
- 8.3 Item 10.6.2 A&R 9.3.1 Information Systems Audit Results for the year ended 30 June 2022 – Confidential Attachment <u>Reason for Confidentiality:</u> Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23 (2) (e) -"matter that if disclosed, would reveal - (i) a trade secret; (ii) information that has a commercial value to a person; or (iii) information about the business, professional, commercial or financial affairs of a person; - where the trade secret or information is held by, or is about a person other than the local government"

8.4 Item 10.6.3 A&R9.5.1 - Adoption of Annual Financial Report 2021/2022 – Confidential Attachment <u>Reason for Confidentiality:</u> Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23 (2) (f) - "a matter that if disclosed, could be reasonably expected to - (i) impair the effectiveness of any lawful method or procedure for preventing, detecting, investigating or dealing with any contravention or possible contravention of the law; (ii) endanger the security of the local government's property; or (iii) prejudice the maintenance or enforcement of a lawful measure for protecting public safety"

9. Disclosure of Interest

9.1. Disclosure of Financial and Proximity Interests

- a) Members must disclose the nature of their interest in matters to be discussed at the meeting. (Section 5.56 of the *Local Government Act 1995*.)
- b) Employees must disclose the nature of their interest in reports or advice when giving the report or advice to the meeting. (Section 5.70 of the *Local Government Act 1995*.)
- 9.1.1 Nil.

9.2. Disclosure of Interest Affecting Impartiality

- a) Members and staff must disclose their interest in matters to be discussed at the meeting in respect of which the member or employee had given or will give advice.
- 9.2.1 Cr Lisa Cooper declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item10.1.1.
 Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove Proposed Garden Centre
 & Caretakers Dwelling. Cr Cooper is spokesperson for Lot 20 Adelaide
 Street Community Awareness Group and has had dealings with Enzo
 Biagioni-Foundist, Principal Civil of Peitas Group who is project Manager.

10. Reports to Council

10.1. Development Services Reports

10.1.1. Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove - Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Cr Lisa Cooper declared an Interest Affecting Impartiality on Item10.1.1. Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove Proposed Garden Centre & Caretakers Dwelling. Cr Cooper is spokesperson for Lot 20 Adelaide Street Community Awareness Group and has had dealings with Enzo Biagioni-Foundist, Principal - Civil of Peitas Group who is project Manager.

Previous Items Directorate Business Unit File Reference Applicant Owner	OCM 324/2021 Development Services Approval Services WL-01/720 Harley Dykstra ACN 605 759 995 Pty Ltd	
Attachments	 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10. 	Development Plans [10.1.1.1 - 3 pages] Transport Impact Statement [10.1.1.2 - 26 pages] Road Safety Audit [10.1.1.3 - 24 pages] Acoustic Assessment [10.1.1.4 - 21 pages] Bushfire Management Plan [10.1.1.5 - 27 pages] Planning Report [10.1.1.6 - 25 pages] Submitters table [10.1.1.7 - 52 pages] Landscape Report [10.1.1.8 - 16 pages] Revised Revegetation Plan Yule Brook [10.1.1.9 - 16 pages] Peritas Design [10.1.1.10 - 1 page]
	10. 11.	Peritas Technical Report 11-03-2022 [10.1.1.11 - 27 pages]
	12.	Peritas Technical Report 22-04-2022 [10.1.1.12 - 27 pages]
	13.	Peritas Technical Report 22-08-2022 [10.1.1.13 - 10 pages]
	14.	Peritas Turning Movements 1 [10.1.1.14 - 1 page]
	15.	Peritas Turning Movements 2 [10.1.1.15 - 1 page]
	16.	720 Welshpool Road East Traffic Matters [10.1.1.16 - 6 pages]
	17.	Corrective Action Report [10.1.1.17 - 6 pages]

Confidential Attachment	DVC Technical Note 11-07-2022
	<u>Reason for Confidentiality: Local Government Act 1995 (WA)</u>
	Section 5.23 (2) (e) - "matter that if disclosed, would reveal - (i) a trade secret; (ii) information that has a commercial value to a person; or (iii) information about the business, professional, commercial or financial affairs of a person; - where the trade secret or information is held by, or is about a person other than the local government"
	5

TYPE OF REPORT

Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
Information	For Council to note
Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.1 - To plan for sustainable population growth. *Strategy 3.1.1* - Plan for diverse and sustainable activity centres, housing, community facilities and industrial development to meet future growth, changing social, economic and environmental needs.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to reconsider, pursuant to Section 31 of the *State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004*, an application for development approval for a garden centre and caretakers dwelling at Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove (subject site).
- The proposed Garden Centre is consistent with the objectives of the 'Rural Composite' zone and, with the exception of a variation to Net Lettable Area (NLA) the City of Kalamunda's (the City) Local Planning Scheme No.3 (LPS3).

- 3. A total of 13 objections were received to the proposal. The concerns raised were principally in relation to traffic and access safety concerns. These concerns were further raised by the community at the Public Agenda Briefing Forum (PABF) held on 9 November 2021.
- 4. The proposal was presented to the Council meeting of November 2021 with a recommendation to defer the matter to enable the applicant to address traffic/access related issues to the satisfaction of the City. The Council resolved (OCM 324/2021) to defer the report.
- 5. The applicant subsequently applied to the State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) on the basis of a deemed refusal by the City due to the deferral and time taken to assess the application. Subsequently, the City and applicant agreed to enter mediation through the SAT. The mediation has progressed, leading to a technical resolution of the traffic matters. Council is now required to reconsider the application as directed by SAT under Section 31.
- 6. It is recommended that the proposal for the Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling be approved subject to conditions.

BACKGROUND

7. Land Details:

Land Area	3.91ha
Local Planning Scheme zone	Rural Composite
Metropolitan Region Scheme	Rural
Zone	

8. The subject site comprises a land area of 3.91ha and contains an existing dwelling and associated outbuildings. A small section of Yule Brook traverses the northwest portion of the Subject Site.

9. Locality Plan (Aerial):



- 10. The surrounding area is characterised by a mix of semi-rural lifestyle properties and rural-oriented commercial land uses, notably dog kennels, garden centre, rural stock-feeders and tourism related activities. To the immediate north of the site, the land is reserved for "Parks and Recreation" and has a Bush Forever designation.
- 11. The property contains an existing vehicle crossover to Welshpool Road East which is designated under the MRS as an 'Other Regional Road' (ORR) which requires development application adjacent to the ORR to be referred to the DPLH in accordance with the instrument of delegation under the Planning and Development Act 2005 (the Act).
- 12. The section of Welshpool Road adjacent to the subject site is under the care and control of the City.
- 13. The proposal was presented to the Ordinary Council Meeting in November 2021 with a recommendation to defer the matter to enable the applicant to address traffic/access related issues to the satisfaction of the City. The Council resolved (OCM 324/2021) to defer the report.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

14. The applicant is seeking approval for a Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling repurposing existing buildings on site for the display and retail sale of a range of landscaping supplies, garden products, ornaments and implements on the subject site (Attachment 1).

- 15. In support of the proposal, the applicant provided the following technical reports:
 - a) Development Plans and Planning Report (Attachment 1).
 - b) Transport Impact Statement (Attachment 2).
 - c) Road Safety Audit (Attachment 3).
 - d) Acoustic Assessment (Attachment 4).
 - e) Bushfire Management Plan (Attachment 5).
 - f) Planning Report (Attachment 6).
 - g) Submission Table (Attachment 7)
 - h) Landscape Report (Attachment 8)
 - i) Revised Revegetation Plan Yule Brook (Attachment 9)
- 16. Further information on traffic matters was provided and is explained further below under State Administrative Tribunal Mediation section of this report (also refer Attachments 10-17).
- 17. The proposal comprises the following key elements:
 - a) The proposed operating hours of Monday to Saturday 7am to 5pm and Sundays and Public Holidays 8pm to 5pm.
 - b) A total of 6 to 8 Staff will be employed at the Garden Centre.
 - c) A car parking area comprising a total of 50 bays within the setback area, fronting Welshpool Road East and associated landscaping,
 - d) An additional 10 car parking bays are proposed within the development itself for staff.
 - e) A grassed overflow car parking area at the rear of the proposed Garden Centre development in the event additional car parking is required on occasion.
 - f) Open air display areas of 475sqm and 236sqm (approximately) for garden ornaments, pots and water features.
 - g) Rehabilitation plantings/landscaping adjacent to Yule Brook where it traverses the north -western of Monday part of the site.
 - h) A drainage basin adjacent to Welshpool Road East incorporating rain garden component.
 - i) An open-air display area (500sqm) for limestone blocks, slabs and other concrete products.
 - j) Bagged Products Sales area (435sqm).
 - k) A pot and water feature display within the existing stable building.
 - l) Bulk landscaping supplies within storage bins.
 - m) Trailer parking (providing trailers for use by customers) adjoins the internal carpark.
 - n) A checkout office.
 - o) Storage shed within an existing outbuilding.
 - p) Access/egress via a new crossover onto Welshpool Road East.

q) The existing dwelling shall be retained for use by an onsite caretaker.

Local Planning Scheme No.3

18. Under the provisions of the LPS3 pertaining to the Rural Composite zone, clause 5.13 states:

"In this zone it is recognised that there is a mix of semi-rural and commercial land uses which the local government seeks to maintain as a balance in a rural setting. Commercial land uses within the zone will only be considered for approval when it has been demonstrated that the use is appropriate to the area and that the commercial activity will not have a detrimental impact on the surrounding area."

19. The objective of the Rural Composite Zone states:

"To provide for small semi-rural lots that can accommodate a limited range of rural and low scale commercial land uses in a manner that will not adversely affect the landscape and environmental qualities of the land are appropriate to the area."

- 20. With respect to land use permissibility under LPS3, a Garden Centre is classified as an 'A' use which means the use is not permitted unless the local government has exercised discretion through the advertising of the proposal to approve the use.
- 21. A Garden Centre is defined as:

"means premises used for the propagation, rearing and sale of plants, and the storage and sale of products associated with horticulture and gardens"

- 22. The use 'Caretakers Dwelling' is a 'D' discretionary land use under the Scheme LPS 3 meaning it is not permitted unless the local government has exercised discretion by granting approval for the use.
- 23. A Caretakers Dwelling is defined as:

"means a dwelling on the same site as a building, operation or plant used for industry, and occupied by a supervisor of that building, operation or plant"

24. The proposed uses are permissible under LPS3 and are considered consistent with clause 4.21 (Objectives of the Zones – Rural Composite) given they represent low scale commercial development that is, based on the information provided, unlikely to have an adverse impact on the surrounding land uses and environmental qualities of the site, including Yule Brook. Moreover, the proposed land uses are consistent with the

character of the area which provides for a range of low scale commercial land uses.

25. With the exception of the NLA, the proposal complies with the commercial development standards identified under clause 5.14 and car parking standards identified under Table 3 of LPS3.

Development	Scheme	Proposed by	Variation to
Standard	Requirement	Applicant	Scheme
NLA	300m ²	450m ²	

26. Whilst the proposed variation represents a 50% increase to the LPS3 requirement, the increase should be considered in the context of the nature of the goods the proposed variation represents. In this regard, the existing stables will be repurposed to a accommodate the display of pots and water features. The nature of the goods is not considered to represent the types of more intensive commercial and retail goods you would likely find in a commercial centre and as such, the NLA variation is unlikely to have an impact on these centres.

27. Bushfire Planning

The site is designated as bushfire prone under the Office of Bushfire Risk Management mapping system. State Planning Policy 3.7 (SPP 3.7) guides the implementation of effective risk-based land use planning and development to preserve life and reduce the impact of bushfire on property and infrastructure.

- 28. The proponent has prepared a Bushfire Management Plan (BMP) in support of the application that adequately addresses the four elements stipulated under the Guidelines (Attachment 5).
- 29. The BMP indicates the proposal can achieve a low-risk rating of BAL 12.5 through establishing an Asset Protection Zone (APZ) around the development. A condition has been imposed requiring the APZ to be implemented and maintained by the landowner in accordance with the Guidelines.

30. State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) Mediation

On the basis of deemed refusal due to the deferral and time taken to assess the application, the applicant applied to SAT for a review.

31. The City and the applicant sought to resolve the matter through mediation under SAT. As directed by SAT, the mediation process is confidential. The general outcomes of the mediation are presented within this report

- 32. For the SAT mediation, only traffic matters were the matters affecting the ability for the Council to consider the application. As such the mediation proceeded on the basis of:
 - a) Confirming the specific technical nature of each traffic and road safety concern.
 - b) Identifying as objectively as possible, the traffic standards that apply to the different concerns.
 - c) Seeking to eliminate or manage those concerns through appropriate treatments.
- 33. Two parameters were presented by the City as guiding the investigations and solutions, firstly that no trees were to be removed from the median spaces for the development, and secondly that road safety risk must be minimised as much as possible, as provided through the objective application of relevant standards and policies.
- 34. Three specific treatments were identified to address the traffic concerns:
 - a) There is proposed to be no right turn in to the property for drivers coming from the east (from Lesmurdie direction),
 - b) A left turn slip lane to the full required length of 125m will be provided for drivers coming from the west (via Tonkin Highway), and
 - c) There is proposed that only left turns out will be available for all drivers exiting the property. In other words, the crossover will be a left in left out only arrangement.

A full explanation of the traffic and access matters follows.

35. Traffic and Access

The issue of traffic and access represents a key element of the proposal. In this regard, the applicant submitted a Traffic Impact Statement (TIS) and Road Safety Audit (RSA) in support of the proposal as part of the original development application.

- 36. The proposal is expected to generate approximately 35 truck vehicle movements per day comprising 20 single axle trucks 12.5m in length for customer deliveries and 15 larger trucks 19m in length for stock deliveries. In addition, it anticipated that the business would receive up to 100 customers per day.
- 37. As part of the original application, DPLH referred the matter to Main Roads Western Australia (MRWA) in regard to proximity of the proposal to the proposed Tonkin Highway Interchange project.

- 38. MRWA provided commentary on this matter as reported to November 2021
 OCM (324/2021) noting issues of non-compliance with their Driveways policy and recommended that this application is not approved.
- 39. Whilst MRWA do not have jurisdictional authority over this section of Welshpool Road East, due regard should be given to their comments, as the State Government experts in road traffic and safety, noting that potential exists in the future for this section of Welshpool Rd East to revert to MRWA care and control.

40. MRWA's key concerns as reported to November OCM (324/2021) were:

- a) The application had stated a right turn in from the east auxiliary lane has not been provided as removal of street trees is not permitted. If a right turn deceleration lane cannot be provided in a safe position, then this movement will not be supported.
- b) The proposed driveway located next to the median island opening will be an unsafe outcome and is contrary to the Main Roads Driveway Policy, specifically:
 - Clause 2.4.4 Driveways to Commercial / Retail Developments Driveways shall not be located opposite the termination road of a T Junction (i.e. opposite Arbor Centre access)
 - ii) 2.4.8 Median Treatments For divided roads, no driveways shall be permitted opposite median openings
- c) The proposed left turn in deceleration lane was substandard, and does not conform with Austroads Part 4A standards, as identified in the Road Safety Audit. MRWA were unclear why a lesser standard has been adopted.
- 41. MRWA recommended this application not be approved in its then proposed form (Nov 2021) in the context of the concerns raised above.
- 42. This proposal was originally to generate four turning movements, with accompanying concerns:
 - a) A right turn in coming from the east, requiring a complying turning lane and no conflict with other traffic in the median.
 - b) A left turn in coming from the west (Tonkin Highway), requiring a fully compliant turning lane,
 - c) A left turn out heading east (towards Lesmurdie), requiring complying sight lines to the west, and
 - d) A right turn out heading west, requiring complying sight lines, sufficient gaps in traffic, median dwell space for the movement to be made safely, and no conflicting traffic in the median space.

The term "turning lane" has been used here to aid in understanding. Under the standards they're called deceleration lanes.

- 43. As reported to OCM in November (OCM324/2021), the applicant proposed a number of solutions and provided technical information to address the traffic concerns. These included calculations of sight lines, assessments against various standards, and modifications to the median islands.
- 44. As part of the SAT mediation process, the applicant provided a number of technical responses and alternatives to address the various traffic concerns. As mentioned previously, these were submitted in confidence under SAT direction. The revised reports and plans provided by the applicant and the City appointed consultant, including a summary table of traffic matters are provided as Attachments 10 to 17.
- 45. Following receipt of the revised technical information in April 2022, the City sought further advice from MRWA. MRWA declined to provide further advice, referring back to their earlier two responses.
- 46. The City then sought advice from an independent traffic engineering experts DVC Consultants. DVC provided detailed advice to the outstanding matters, leading to the following two key recommendations:
 - a) That the existing access location opposite the median of Welshpool Road East should not be supported, and that it be moved to the west to ensure only left-in and left-out movements, and
 - b) The left turn in turning lane, for drivers from the west, should be reassessed using the design speed (the lane length is derived in the standards based on the design speed which is typically 10 km/hr more than the regulatory speed zone).
- 47. The applicant has responded to the requirements, with the following treatments proposed (see attachments 2 and 10):
 - a) No right turn in to the property will be available for drivers coming from the east, enforced by the existing median kerb arrangement, 'no right turn' sign, and a traffic island at the entrance that effectively blocks vehicles coming from the median space,
 - b) A left turn in turning lane to the full required length of 125m will be provided for drivers coming from the west (via Tonkin Highway), which includes relocating the bus stop to the western end of the turning lane, and
 - c) A left-in, left-out access crossover controlled by a 'one way' sign pointing east, and a traffic island that creates a physical obstruction to drivers attempting to turn right out of the property.

- 48. The no-right-turn-in constraint is expected to resolve all questions regarding appropriate right turn turning lane and conflicting vehicles in the median space (for that traffic). This resolves the concerns raised in the RSA and by MRWA. The treatment available to the developer is to install signs and create a physical barrier at the property entrance that prevents movements to and from this direction. The applicant has proposed both treatments.
- 49. The left turn turning lane proposed for vehicles entering the site from the west has a lane distance of 125m. This meets the Austroads Guidelines for a 'deceleration lane' on the basis of the design speed of 90 km/hr for a 70km/h posted speed limit. This resolves the concerns raised in the RSA and by MRWA.
- 50. The existing bus stop within the proposed turning lane was recommended to be relocated further west to the 'upstream' end of the turning lane by DVC. The applicant has shown the stop as being relocated. This provides for the most practical and safe treatment when bus stops are located within turning lanes.
- 51. The left-out only constraint is expected to eliminate or minimise most concerns; there would be no drivers crossing the median from the east to enter the property or dwelling in the median, no impacts on median trees, and consequently no sight lines concerns. Vehicles would not be able to leave the property to cross Welshpool Road East to the median break unless the driver exited in a dangerous manner.
- 52. This constraint should resolve the concerns raised in the RSA and by MRWA. The applicant has proposed a traffic island that requires drivers to exit left, to the east, as well as a one way (to the east) sign. *Note the design plan Attachment 10, PC16017-CI-1100 J, shows the sign with the arrow pointing west, however this is because the sign is displayed vertically on the page. The arrow when mounted will be pointing east.*
- 53. MRWA were provided with the revised proposal on 30 August 2022, and they declined to provide further comment.
- 54. However as noted above, the concerns raised by MRWA based on the original proposal have now been addressed in technical terms by revised access proposals.

- 55. The remaining matters are unchanged from the original proposal, as the design meets current standards:
 - a) The crossover is positioned with a one metre separation from the neighbouring crossover at 740 Welshpool Road East. Some vehicles exiting 720 Welshpool Road East may cross the edge of the neighbouring crossover when turning left and may, on occasion, temporarily block the sight for drivers exiting 740 Welshpool Road East.
 - b) Larger trucks exiting 720 Welshpool Road East to the left (east) may need to enter the far lane initially, before returning to the inside (north) lane.
- 56. The SAT mediation process is now at a point where a formal order from the SAT was issued. Pursuant to the State Administrative Act 2004, Section 31(1), the City is invited to reconsider its decision.

APPLICABLE LAW

57. Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 Metropolitan Region Scheme Local Planning Scheme No.3 State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004, and specifically Section 31(1).

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 58. State Planning Policy 3.7 Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas
- 59. Local Planning Policy 11 Public Notification of Planning Proposals (LPP11

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 60. The proposal was advertised in accordance with the provisions of LPP 11, notably:
 - Public Notification of Planning Proposals for a period of four weeks from 16 December 2020, concluding 13 January 2020. Residents directly affected by the proposal were notified in writing.
 - 2. Acknowledging the community interest in the proposal, the proposal was re-advertising landowners within a 300m radius of the site commencing on 24 March and concluding on 14 April 2021. Letters were sent to all effected landowners within the 300m radius seeking comment to the proposal and including notification of the planned Community Information Session. Details of the Community Information Session have also been included on the Kalamunda Engage web page.
 - 3. A community information session was held on 8 April 2021 at the City's administration centre.

- 4. The proposal was forwarded to the Department of Planning Lands and Heritage and Main Roads WA for comment due to the proposed site access/egress and traffic management modifications.
- 61. In response to the proposal, a total of 13 submissions were received, all objecting to the proposal. The City's response to the concerns raised are discussed below:

Submission	Officer Comment
Traffic safety concerns Welshpool Road East has a high number of crashes, there tends to be a lot of congestion east bound during peak periods.	The proponent and City have undertaken detailed assessment of traffic and road safety matters arising from the proposed development and sought to eliminate and reduce road safety risks. The current proposal has no impact on east bound traffic.
Land use permissibility – allowing commercial uses within a rural area.	The Scheme allows for the uses to be considered and for an application to be taken on its merits. The proposal is compliant with the scheme with the exception of a NLA variation which is considered appropriate given the nature of goods proposed for sale. The proposal is consistent with the objectives of the zone that allows for commercial uses to be considered.
Environmental concerns – the proposal will impact on the local biodiversity and will result in clearing of native vegetation. The proposal is located within proximity to the Yule Brook.	The proposal was referred to DWER for their comment, DWER provided a non-objection to the proposal. There is no clearing proposed as part of this application and a condition will be imposed on the approval to ensure vegetation is not removed from the site. The buildings are setback compliant from the Yule Brook to ensure there will be no adverse impacts on the watercourse. The City has imposed a condition requiring the rear portion of the site abutting the Yule Brook to be revegetated and rehabilitated. The City will liaise with DWER with respect to the rehabilitation plan. Yule Brook is a Registered Aboriginal Site (ID:36929) which will require the City to liaise with DPLH with respect to the rehabilitation plan.

Bushfire concerns	The applicant has provided a BMP and BAL assessment that was prepared by an accredited bushfire practitioner. The BAL report indicates the proposal achieves a BAL -12.5 rating and this is consistent with the SPP 3.7 and associated Guidelines
	associated Guidelines.

62. No further comment from surrounding residents has been sought in response to the design changes arising from the s31 mediation process through SAT.

63.

Department	Comment	Officer Comment
DWER	Non-objection	Noted
DPLH	 Non- Objection but recommends the following: Swept path analysis required and turning movements for RAV 4 vehicles. Right hand turning pocket is recommended westbound to reduce the risk of rear end crashes. Comments to be sought from Main Roads as the site is in proximity to the WRE/Tonkin intersection upgrades. 	 The proponent submitted a revised Transport Impact Statement that includes a sightlines assessment revised safety audit and swept paths and turning movements. RAV 4 vehicles are not proposed. The proposal no longer provides for access to westbound traffic. Noted, the application was referred to MRWA as a blue road.
MRWA	 Objection a) The application has stated a right turn auxiliary lane has not been provided as removal of street trees is not permitted. If a right turn deceleration lane cannot be provided in a safe position, then this movement will not be supported. b) The proposed driveway located next to the median 	 a) The proposal no longer provides for access to westbound traffic. b) The proposal no

contrary to the Main Roads Driveway Policy.	to the median, being left-in, left-out.
 c) The proposed left turn deceleration lane is substandard, and does not conform with Austroads Part 4A standards, as identified in the Road Safety Audit. It is unclear why a lesser standard has been adopted. Main Roads recommends this application is not approved in its current form given the above public safety concerns. 	 c) The proposal now provides for a fully compliant slip lane. Main Roads WA technical responses have been responded to in more detail in Attachments 10-17.

64. From an environmental health and engineering perspective, the City is satisfied that all stormwater and dust related issues have been addressed.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 65. Should the applicant be aggrieved by a subsequent decision of Council, the applicant may seek a review of the decision through an appeal to the SAT. Should the City be required to defend an appeal through mediation and to a full hearing, it is estimated to cost approx. \$40,000 \$60,000.
- 66. To date, the City has spent approx. \$8,500 on consultant advice through the SAT mediation process.

SUSTAINABILITY

67. Social Implications

The proposal may impact on the amenity of the surrounding lifestyle properties by virtue of the proposed activities to be conducted from the site. Conditions of approval will be imposed to ensure those impacts are appropriately managed.

68. **Economic Implications**

The proposed garden centre will help to stimulate the local economy and generate employment opportunities.

69. Environmental Implications

Yule brook traverses the northwest portion of the site. The proposal includes the rehabilitation along this section of the creek as a condition of approval.

70. Yule Brook is a Registered Aboriginal Site (ID:36929) which will require the City to liaise with DPLH with respect to the rehabilitation plan.

RISK MANAGEMENT

71.

72.

Risk: The proposal may impact on the amenity of surrounding lifestyle properties.

		-
Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Moderate	Unlikely	Low
Action/Strategy		
The City to provide appropriate conditions of planning approval to ensure		

Risk: The Development Application is refused with insufficient planning grounds, resulting in the City incurring significant costs from the matter being referred to the SAT.

potential amenity impacts are managed and adhered to.

Q		
Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Moderate	Almost Certain	High
Action/Strategy		
The City ensures that Councillors are adequately informed of the		
applications assessment in regard to planning considerations and the		
financial implications of a SAT appeal process.		

CONCLUSION

- 73. The proposal is considered by the City to be consistent with the objectives of the 'Rural Composite' zone and, with the exception of NLA variation, complies with all the relevant requirements of the statutory planning framework.
- 74. In response to Councillor queries and community concerns raised at the PAB, and review of traffic considerations through the SAT mediation, the City has required a number of additional changes to the proposal to reduce traffic and road safety concerns.
- 75. Following extensive traffic assessments and external advice during mediation, the proposed left-in and left-out access arrangements are expected to resolve the most significant concerns.
- 76. Having regard to the above, it is recommended that the application for a proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling be approved.

Additional Information Between Public Agenda Briefing and Ordinary Council Meeting

- 77. During the later phases of the assessment of the application and SAT proceedings, the Environmental Protection Authority released advice in relation to the Greater Brixton Street Wetlands in accordance with Section 16(j) of the Environmental Protection Act 1986.
- 78. A copy of this advice is available from the Environmental Protection Authority website at the following URL: <u>https://www.epa.wa.gov.au/sites/default/files/Environmental%20Values%20</u> <u>and%20Pressures%20for%20the%20Greater%20Brixton%20Street%20Wetl</u> <u>ands%20on%20the%20Swan%20Coastal%20Plain.pdf</u>
- 79. In response to this advice (specifically Section 3.3 (2)) and Councillor queries between the PAB and the Ordinary Council Meeting, the following changes to the conditions of approval are recommended:
 - a) Amendment to the wording of Condition h)
 - b) New Condition s)
 - c) New Advice Note k)

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 175/2022

1. That Council in accordance with section 31(2) of the State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004 APPROVE the application for a Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling on Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove subject to a suitable left-in and left-out access arrangement only and the following conditions:

Conditions:

a) The development must be carried out in accordance with the stamped approved plan(s)/drawing(s) and document(s) (including any recommendations made) listed below, stamped and returned to the applicant with this decision notice, including any amendments to those plans as shown in red.

Plan No	Title	Revision	Date	Prepared By
20843-01	Site Plan	L	17/10/2022	Harley Dykstra
20843-01	Part Site Plan	L	17/10/2022	Harley Dykstra
20843-01	Elevations & Floor Plan	D	28/01/2021	Harley Dykstra
20843-03	Landscape Plan	E	27/10/2022	Harley Dykstra

16191	Acoustic Assessment	3	25/10/2022	Herring Storer Acoustics
T16.340	Transport Impact Statement	r01f	03/11/2022	Transcore Pty Ltd
n/a	Preliminary Design Stage (Stage 2) Road Safety Audit	n/a	November 2022	Transcore Pty Ltd
20PER-18016	Bushfire Management Plan	V3	10/11/2022	Eco Logical Australia
PC16017-CI-1100	General Arrangement Plan – left in/left out crossover	J	16/07/22	Peritas
PC16017_LER- 001	Applicants Traffic Responses to Traffic Issues	0	11/03/22	Peritas
PC16017_LER- 003	Applicants Traffic Responses to Traffic Issues	1	22/04/22	Peritas
PC16017_LER- 004	Applicants Traffic Responses to Traffic Issues	0	22/08/22	Peritas
PC16017-CI-SK4	19m Semi- Trailer Turning Movements	F	18/06/22	Peritas
PC16017-CI-SK5	19m Semi- Trailer Turning Movements	F	18/06/22	Peritas
DVCLG401	Consultant Technical Note 1		11/07/22	DV Consultants
KAL	Technical Response to Traffic Matters	A	30/09/22	City of Kalamunda

- b) A Dust Management Plan is required to be submitted to the City of Kalamunda for approval prior to the issuance of the building permit. Once approved the plan is to be implemented in perpetuity.
- c) The applicant is required to submit a Site and Soil Evaluation in accordance with AS/NZS 1547 On-Site Domestic Wastewater Management. The Site and Soil Evaluation is to be conducted during the wettest time of the year and provide guidance on the most suitable placement and sizing of the effluent disposal land application area for the development.
- d) Prior to occupation of the development, a Noise Management Plan must be submitted to and approved by the City of Kalamunda

- e) The Garden Centre is permitted to operate Monday to Saturday 7am until 5pm and Sundays and Public Holidays 8am until 5pm.
- f) The Asset Protection Zone (APZ) shall be implemented and maintained in perpetuity in accordance with the APZ standards set out under Element 2 Siting and Design in the Guidelines for Planning in Bushfire Prone Areas Appendices Version 1.4.
- g) The Garden Centre must be constructed with the finished floor level matching the approved plans. Any additional proposed cut and fill to the site does not form part of this development approval and if required, amended plans must be submitted to the City of Kalamunda for approval.
- Prior to lodgement of the building permit, a detailed drainage design must be submitted based on geotechnical investigations and incorporating water sensitive design principles ensuring all stormwater is contained on site, or appropriately treated and connected to a local drainage system, to the specification of the City of Kalamunda in consultation with the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation.
- i) Prior to issuance of the occupancy permit, all car parking areas must meet the following requirements:
 - i. The provision and maintenance of a minimum of 60 car parking spaces, must be designed, constructed sealed, kerbed, drained and line marked in accordance with the Australian/New Zealand.
 - ii. The provision and maintenance of two accessible car parking spaces, that are designed, constructed, sealed, kerbed, drained and line marked that are dedicated to people with disabilities that are designed in accordance with the Australian/New Zealand Standard AS/NZ 2890.6:2009, Parking Facilities Part 6 off street parking.
 - iii. Vehicle parking, manoeuvring and circulation areas are to be suitable constructed, sealed, kerbed, drained and line marked to the specification and satisfaction of the City of Kalamunda and Australian Standard AS AS2890.
- j) Car parking areas must always be available for their intended purpose and must not be used for any alternative purpose at any time.
- k) The requirements of the Transport Impact Statement must be implemented to the satisfaction of the City of Kalamunda prior to issuance of the occupancy permit.

- The applicant/landowner must submit detailed drawings of the deceleration lane to the satisfaction of the City of Kalamunda in consultation with Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage prior to issuance of the building permit.
- m) Construction of approved works outlined in condition l) are to be carried out and completed at the applicant/landowners cost prior to issuance of the occupancy permit.
- n) All crossovers must be designed and constructed to the specification and satisfaction of the City of Kalamunda prior to issuance of the occupancy permit.
- o) The approval does not permit vehicles entering and exiting the site that exceed 19m in length.
- p) The submitted landscape plan shall be approved by the City of Kalamunda prior to issuance of the building permit. All the landscaping noted in the approved landscape plan must be planted prior to occupation of the development and maintained thereafter, to the satisfaction of the City of Kalamunda. Any species which fail to establish within the first two planting seasons following implementation must be replaced at the landowners cost to the satisfaction of the City of Kalamunda.
- q) A Revegetation and Rehabilitation Landscape Plan for the rear portion of the site abutting the Yule Brook water course, must be submitted to, and approved by the City of Kalamunda in consultation with Department of Water and Environmental Regulation and implemented prior to issuance of the building permit.
- r) This development approval does not authorise the removal of any vegetation other than any marked for removal on the approved plan(s). The vegetation identified on the plans for retention shall be protected in accordance with AS 4970-2009 prior to works commencing on site.
- s) Prior to occupation, a Nutrient Management Plan must be submitted, including a water quality monitoring schedule, to the satisfaction of the City of Kalamunda on the advice of the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation. The implementation of the water quality monitoring schedule is to be undertaken independently and is to occur at least monthly from July to November when Yule Brook is flowing to ensure that water quality and water runoff is not being impacted by the operation of the development.

Advice Notes

- a) All development must comply with the provisions of Council's Local
 Planning Scheme No 3 (unless otherwise approved), Health Regulations,
 Building Code of Australia, and all other relevant Acts, Regulations and Local
 Laws.
- b) Prior to construction on site, the applicant is required to obtain a building permit from the City's Building Services.
- c) Any trees requiring protection from development works should be in accordance with AS4970-2009 "Protection of Trees on Development Sites".
- d) The applicant is required to obtain a demolition permit for the existing structures on site from the City of Kalamunda.
- e) The applicant is reminded of their obligations to comply with the "Land development sites and impacts on air quality: a guideline for the prevention of dust and smoke pollution from land development sites in Western Australia", prepared by the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation.
- f) In regard to condition 3, temporary toilets or other suitable temporary measures as agreed by the City of Kalamunda may be installed as in interim measure until such time as a suitable effluent disposal system identified by the Site and Soil Evaluation is installed.
- g) The applicant is advised that under the Fly Eradication Regulations pursuant to the Health Act 1911, it is an offence to place, throw or leave or permit or cause to be placed thrown or left on the land or premises any waste food, manure, refuse, garbage, waste matter or other matter whatsoever, which is likely to attract or be a breeding place for flies, unless that food waste, manure, refuse, garbage, waste matter or other matter is covered, protected, treated or dealt with in such a manner as to effectively prevent it attracting or being a breeding place for flies.
- h) The applicant is advised that the proposed development is within a Sewage Sensitive Area as defined in the Government Sewerage Policy 2019 and as such will require a Secondary Treatment System with nutrient removal for disposal of effluent.
- Clearances are to be maintained from the waste-water disposal system(s) to new buildings and boundaries in accordance with the Health (Treatment of Sewage and Disposal of Effluent and Liquid Waste) Regulations 1974.

- j) The applicant is advised that a separate planning application is required to be submitted and approved for all signage.
- k) In regard to Condition H, the applicant is advised that all stormwater runoff, including areas containing bulk landscaping supplies, bagged products, fertilizers and general chemicals associated with the operation of the site must be appropriately treated prior to entering the groundwater or prevented from entering the groundwater to ensure potential environmental impacts on the Greater Brixton Street Wetlands are managed on site.
- 2. ADVISE the State Administrative Tribunal of its decision.
- Moved: Cr Dylan O'Connor
- Seconded: Cr Margaret Thomas
- Vote:ForAgaCr Lisa CooperCr JCr Dylan O'ConnorCr JCr Margaret ThomasCr GCr MCr M
 - Against Cr John Giardina Cr Janelle Sewell Cr Geoff Stallard Cr Mary Cannon Cr Kellie Miskiewicz Cr Brooke O'Donnell Cr Sue Bilich Cr Andrew Osenton Cr Kathy Ritchie

LOST (3/9)

RESOLVED OCM 188/2022

That Council in accordance with Section 31(2) of the State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004 REFUSE the application for a Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling on Lot 150 (720) Welshpool Road East, Wattle Grove for the following reasons:

- 1. The proposal will have an adverse impact on the landscape and environmental qualities of the land and is therefore contrary to the objectives of Clause 4.2 of Local Planning Scheme No.3.
- 2. The proposed development will have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of surrounding residents as a result of the land use and its potential to conflict with existing rural/residential land uses and the surrounding road network.

- 3. The likely effect of the development on the natural environment and water resources including incompatibility of the land use activity in close proximity of the site to the Greater Brixton Street Wetlands due to the potential risk for contamination to enter the ground water system from the goods stored on the site.
- 4. The City of Kalamunda Crystal Brook Concept Plan (2020) contemplates an Urban Landscape at this location in the future and as such, the proposal is considered inconsistent with the Council's strategic intent for the area.
- Moved: Cr Janelle Sewell
- Seconded: Cr John Giardina
- Vote: <u>For</u> Cr John Giardina Cr Janelle Sewell Cr Geoff Stallard Cr Mary Cannon Cr Kellie Miskiewicz Cr Brooke O'Donnell Cr Sue Bilich Cr Andrew Osenton Cr Kathy Ritchie

CARRIED (9/3)

<u>Against</u> Cr Lisa Cooper Cr Dylan O'Connor Cr Margaret Thomas

10.1.2. Draft Local Planning Policy 33 (LPP33) - Tree Retention

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items Directorate Business Unit File Reference Applicant Owner	OCM 278/2021 Development Services Strategic Planning 3.009297 City of Kalamunda N/A	
Attachments	1. 2.	Draft Local Planning Policy 33 Tree Retention - As Advertised [10.1.2.1 - 16 pages] Local Planning Policy 33 (LPP33) - Tree Retention - Community Engagement Report 2021 [10.1.2.2 - 64 pages]
	3. 4. 5. 6.	Western Australian Planning Commission Correspondence [10.1.2.3 - 2 pages] Schedule of Submissions [10.1.2.4 - 36 pages] Schedule of Recommended Modifications [10.1.2.5 - 9 pages] Modified Local Planning Policy 33 Tree Retention for Final Adoption [10.1.2.6 - 23 pages]

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
D	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licensces, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 2: Kalamunda Clean and Green

Objective 2.1 - To protect and enhance the environmental values of the City.

Strategy 2.1.1 - Implementation of the Local Environment Strategy **Strategy 2.1.2** - Development and Implementation of the Urban Forest Strategy.

Strategy 2.1.4 - Increasing and protecting local biodiversity and conservation, wherever possible, through integrating ecosystem and biodiversity protection into planning processes including schemes policies and strategies.

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.1 - To plan for sustainable population growth. *Strategy 3.1.1* - Plan for diverse and sustainable activity centres, housing, community facilities and industrial development to meet future growth, changing social, economic and environmental needs.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- The purpose of this report is for the Council to consider the submissions received and final adoption of Local Planning Policy 33 – Tree Retention (LPP33) following advertising.
- 2. The draft LPP33 was adopted by the Council on 28 September 2021 for the purpose of public advertising, and referral to the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) seeking approval to vary the relevant deemed-to-comply provisions of State Planning Policy 7.3 Residential Design Codes Volume 1 (R-Codes).
- As presented in the Community Engagement Report (Attachment 2), during advertising 43 survey responses and 22 formal written submissions were received, with an overarching sentiment in favour of LPP33,
- 4. The City of Kalamunda (City) received confirmation of approval from WAPC on 6 September 2022 (Attachment 3) for variations to the R-Codes Volume 1, subject to minor modifications to LPP33. A Schedule of Recommended Modifications (Attachment 5) presents both the modifications undertaken by the City in response to submissions, and the resolution adopted by the WAPC.
5. It is recommended that the Council note the submissions and modifications and adopt the modified version of LPP33 (Attachment 6) for implementation.

BACKGROUND

- 6. The preparation of a local planning policy to protect trees on development sites was identified as a key initiative in the City's strategic environmental framework, including the Kalamunda Clean and Green: Local Environment Strategy 2019 2029 (Clean and Green) and the Environmental Land Use Planning Strategy (2019) (ELUPS).
- 7. The purpose of LPP33 is to guide applicants and decision makers to consider the need for the removal of trees and, where possible, minimise the removal of trees of a particular size through planning and development processes.
- LPP33 therefore provides guidance and structure for the City's decision making on tree retention, and balances provisions via exemptions and a moderate level of control for trees of a particular size and maturity that are capable of being retained during the consideration of development. LPP33 also seeks, where practical, to increase canopy cover with replanting provisions.
- 9. On 28 September 2021, draft LPP33 and a detailed background was presented at the Ordinary Meeting of the Council and adopted under Resolution OCM 278/2021 for the purpose of advertising, and referral to the WAPC seeking approval to vary relevant deemed-to-comply provisions of the R-Codes.
- 10. Draft LPP33 was advertised from 21 October to 20 December 2021 as part of a broad Community Engagement Plan, with 43 survey responses and 22 formal written submissions received, with an overarching sentiment in favour of LPP33. All written submissions and the City's responses are included in the Schedule of Submissions (Attachment 4), with submitter details included in Confidential Attachment 1.
- 11. Correspondence was received from the WAPC on 6 September 2022 (Attachment 3) confirming approval for variations to relevant deemed-tocomply provisions of the R-Codes and advice, subject to modifications discussed below.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 12. The objectives of LPP33 are to encourage and facilitate the protection and growth of trees worthy of retention to maintain and enhance canopy cover on land subject to strategic planning, subdivision and development by:
 - a) Encouraging design and development that facilitates tree protection.
 - b) Balancing tree retention with built form and land use outcomes;
 - c) Maintaining and increasing canopy cover to mitigate urban heat island, reduce air pollution, sequester carbon, improve groundwater quality and contribute to wildlife habitat and native biodiversity.
 - d) Maintaining and enhancing neighbourhood amenity, character and sense of place; and
 - e) Applying a mitigation hierarchy to decision making based on four criteria to avoid clearing, minimise harm, rehabilitate, and offsets.

13. Key sections of LPP33 include:

- a) Definition of a tree worthy of retention.
- b) Exemptions (circumstances when a tree can be removed without approval).
- c) Provisions varying the R-Codes to provide greater protection and enhancement of tree canopy.
- d) Tree retention requirements including protection of trees and information required to support an application for clearing.
- e) Tree planting requirements for private land including replanting ratios and costs.
- f) Requirements for retention and replacement / funding of street trees.
- g) Compliance action for unauthorised impacts to trees worthy of retention; and
- h) Appendices for definitions, tree planting requirements, indicative tree retention plan, tree label, and tree methodology.

14. **Definition of a Tree Worthy of Retention**

A key component of LPP33 is to define a 'tree worthy of retention', and noting comments raised in submissions, is to be defined in the modified policy as follows:

"Trees which meet the following criteria are defined under this Policy as a tree worthy of retention:

- a) Trees which have:
 - *i.* a height of at least 4m; and/or
 - *ii.* a trunk diameter of at least 160mm, measured 1m from the ground, and/or
 - *iii.* an average canopy diameter of at least 4m; and are
- b) Healthy specimens with ongoing viability if not disturbed; or

- c) Trees containing hollows that may provide black cockatoo breeding habitat (including dead trees); and
- d) Species not included on a Commonwealth, State or local weed register, or if
 - i) not included on a Commonwealth, State or local weed register; or
 - *ii) is included on a weed register but provides important habitat for threatened bird species (e.g. Pinus species). "*
- 15. The above definition is generally consistent with that of a 'significant tree' under SPP 7.3 Residential Design Codes, ensuring assimilation of LPP33 with other related planning documents, and also capturing a range of tree shapes and sizes given the significant diversity in species throughout the City.
- 16. The definition has been modified since advertising in response to submissions received, and to insert reference to black cockatoo breeding and habitat trees for threatened bird species, to account for dead trees with hollows or weed listed trees that otherwise would not be considered a tree worthy of retention.

17. **Exemptions**

Noting comments raised by some State Agencies to recognise exemptions for public works and impacts on public assets, Section 6 of LPP33 includes a modified list of exemptions for clearing of a tree worthy of retention including:

- a) Impacted by encroachment of development works that do not require approval under Schedule 2, Part 7, cl.61 of the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 (Regulations).
- b) Adherence with approved or regulated bushfire management requirements.
- c) Pruning of limbs directly overhanging a house or outbuilding.
- d) Tree is included on a Commonwealth, State or local weed register.
- e) Constitutes an immediate danger to life or property.
- f) Causing structural damage to a building, external fixture or incidental development.
- g) The tree protection zone is within an area required for an approved effluent disposal system.
- h) Tree protection zone is within 0.5m mains infrastructure or 2.0m of an effluent disposal system, where damage of blockage could occur.
- i) Within required clearance distance to power line infrastructure and pruning/management is not deemed reasonably practicable.
- j) Palm tree, fruit tree, orchard, vineyard or timber plantation; and
- k) Identified for clearing as part of approved development.

- 18. In support of an application for an exemption from development approval, the LPP33 enables the City to request evidence to be submitted by a proponent including photographs of tree(s), evidence of any structural damage, and/or a report by a suitably qualified Arborist.
- 19. Importantly, LPP33 will not remove any exemptions currently in place for development under cl. 61 of the Regulations. This includes a single house and additions/alterations to dwellings, and a range of associated incidental works that are compliant with the deemed-to-comply requirements of the R-Codes.

20. **Provisions Varying the R-Codes**

Clause 7.3.2 of the R-Codes Volume 1 enables local governments to vary deemed-to-comply provisions through adoption of a local planning policy. A key objective for LPP33 is to increase the number of trees for residential development, particularly for larger lot sizes, as the R-Codes Volume 1 provision is not currently considered appropriate to achieve urban forest goals and retain no net loss of canopy in these environments.

- 21. Noting support from the WAPC (Attachment 3), LPP33 includes variations to the deemed-to-comply provisions of the R-Codes Volume 1 under Design Element 5.3.2 Landscaping and Design Element 5.3.4 Design of car parking spaces, which will:
 - a) Prioritise retention of established trees worthy of retention over their replacement, where development constraints permit.
 - b) Establish planting requirements based on lot size to ensure larger lots accommodate retention and appropriate planting of trees; and
 - c) Increase planting requirements for car parking areas.
- 22. Based on public submissions and further review, Table 1.1 has been modified to include a minimum Deep Soil Areas (DSAs) of 10% of the site area, or 7% if existing trees are retained onsite, with tree sizes (and combinations) ranging from small, medium to large trees to be planted relative to lot sizes. This modification will support applicants and the City to apply the replanting requirements based on the characteristics of each site and development.

23. Tree Retention

For planning, development, building, and clearing proposals that do not meet an exemption, LPP33 sets out requirements to protect trees worthy of retention, that broadly include:

- a) Prioritising retention of established trees over replanting.
- b) Submission of proposed development and tree information at the application stage.

- c) Retention of canopy cover within Asset Protection Zones.
- d) Protection measures of trees worthy of retention during works; and
- e) Relocation of trees worth of retention, and/or offset planting within the site, adjoining verge, or nearby area of public open space.
- 24. LPP 33 encourages the retention of trees not directly impacted by development works, exempted or otherwise. The provisions of LPP 33 refer to a Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) an area around the tree to provide for the viability and stability of the tree to be retained as a measure to determine whether a tree will be impacted by the encroachment of development works. The provisions of LPP 33 will facilitate the protection of trees worthy of retention where a TPZ is not impacted by works that are otherwise exempted (eg. works that are either exempted from planning approval or that have received planning approval).
- 25. This would not prevent establishment of an Asset Protection Zone around a dwelling pursuant to an approved Bushfire Management Plan or City of Kalamunda Fuel Hazard Reduction Notice.

26. Strategic Proposals

LPP33 requires Local Planning Scheme amendments and Structure Plan proposals to be supported by technical information identifying environmental features including trees worthy of retention, and the mechanisms and measures of protection during subsequent stages of the planning framework.

27. Noting submissions received, modifications to LPP33 will guide the City with making recommendations and decisions regarding the configuration of public open space and public road network to retain environmental values, to include ecological linkages and trees worthy of retention.

28. Subdivision

Under the guidance of LPP33, the City may recommend that subdivision applications be accompanied by an Arborist Report to identify, retain and protect trees worthy of retention. The City may also recommend reconfiguration of the subdivision layout to maximise tree retention, such as meandering or wide road verges and/or modified lot configuration.

29. Where there is a net loss in the number of trees worthy of retention, or where Table 2 targets are not achieved, the City may recommend streetscaping with shade trees as a condition of subdivision approval.

30. Tree Planting Requirements

Table 2 sets out minimum tree planting requirements for various zones in LPS3 including strategic planning proposals, with generally two replacement trees of the same size classification required for removal of a tree worthy of retention in the Residential and Rural zones.

- 31. For development proposals in the various Industrial and Centre zones, tree planting is required to achieve respective 10% and 20% minimum canopy coverage.
- 32. LPP33 includes planting of one medium or large tree for every four uncovered car parking bays, with a planting area based on soil volume and width specified in new Table 2.1. Tree planting areas are to be provided as unsurfaced ground or an engineered tree well, free from utility services and other obstructions.
- 33. Requirements have been clarified for a minimum 2.0 metre height, two years of age, reticulation for establishment, ongoing maintenance, and species supported by the City acquired from nursery stock pursuant to relevant Australian Standards. Requirements have also been added for planting centrally within a DSA; maximum 20% permeable paving or decking for DSA; recommended authority/utility provider consultation for planting in proximity to public assets; and planting within approval timeframes.

34. Street Trees

LPP33 requires protection of street trees, with an increased 1.5m minimum setback to a crossover/driveway, maximum 150mm excavation depth to reduce root system impact, and approved nursery stock as per AS2303:2018 for an approved street tree planting.

- 35. The clearing of street trees for a development application will not be supported unless unavoidable circumstances apply, as agreed to by the City in writing. The applicant must provide an offset payment for any street tree removal, with the City's Tree Valuation Methodology is provided in Appendix 5.
- 36. The City undertook a comparative assessment of four street tree valuation methodologies. The City has settled on an adapted version of the City of Melbourne methodology, addressing removal costs, amenity values, ecological services value and reinstatement costs, noting the City of Melbourne methodology may be subject to changes and improvements over time.

37. Unauthorised Impacts

LPP33 clarifies that the unauthorised clearing of a tree worthy of retention, or impact that compromises the ongoing health and viability of the tree, will constitute a contravention of LPS3 and compliance action may be taken.

- 38. LPP33 has been modified to include a clause which allows the City to:
 - a) apply discretion in determining appropriate replanting planting requirements for unauthorised clearing of trees worthy of retention; and
 - b) deviate from the 2:1 replacement ratio specified in LPP33 where appropriate after consideration of mitigating factors.
- 39. In considering an alternative replanting requirement / offset, the City will have regard to the following mitigating factors:
 - a) The environmental amenity and character of the area and its enhancement;
 - b) The future planned amenity of the area; and/or
 - c) The actions taken in advance of an application; including the outcomes of any related penalties applied for unlawful clearing.

APPLICABLE LAW

40. Planning and Development Act 2005 (P&D Act 2005)

The P&D Act 2005 is legislation that establishes Western Australia's land use planning system and promotes the sustainable use and development of land in the State.

41. Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015

Schedule 2, Part 2, cl.4 (2) "The period for making submissions ... must not be less than the period of 21 days after the day on which the notice is first published ..."

Schedule 2, Part 2, cl.4 (3) "After the expiry of the period within which submissions may be made the local government must –

(a) review the proposed policy in light of any submissions made: and(b) resolve to-

- *(i) proceed with the policy without modification; or*
- (ii) proceed with the policy with modifications; or
- *(iii)* not to proceed with the policy."

Schedule 2, Part 2, cl.4 (3A) *"The local government must not resolve under subclause (3) to proceed with the policy if –*

- (a) the proposed policy amends or replaces a deemed-to-comply provision of the R-Codes; and
- *(b) under the R-Codes, the Commission's approval is required for the policy; and*
- (c) the Commission has not approved the policy."

Schedule 2, Part 2, cl.5 (4) *"If the local government resolves to proceed with the policy, the local government must publish notice of the policy in accordance with clause 87."*

42. Following the advertising period, Council has options to adopt LPP33 with or without modifications, or not to proceed with LPP33. It is recommended that Council adopt LPP33 subject to the Schedule of Recommended Modifications (Attachment 5).

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 43. Local Planning Policy 11 Public Notification of Planning Proposals Identifies a minimum advertising period of 21 days for a local planning policy, with LPP33 advertised for an extended 42 day period.
- 44. LPP33 is to be given due regard by the City when considering strategic level planning, subdivision and development proposals, and is to be read in conjunction with:
 - a) Planning and Development Act 2005
 - b) Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015
 - c) Liveable Neighbourhoods (WAPC, 2009)
 - d) State Planning Policy 7.3 Residential Design Codes of WA Volume 1

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 45. Pursuant to the Regulations and the City's Local Planning Policy 11 Public Notification of Planning Proposals, draft LPP33 was advertised for extended 42 day period from 21 October 2021 to 20 December 2021.
- 46. Community consultation for the project was delivered via a Communications and Engagement Plan prepared in line with IAP2 best practice principles using a broad range of engagement tools including website pages, media release, posters, letters to stakeholders, community survey, newspaper advertisement, e-Newsletter, pop-up pop-in booths (x3) and social media posts. The findings are presented in the Community Engagement Report 2021 (Attachment 2).

- 47. The online survey received 43 responses, with 22 formal written submissions received including with the overarching sentiment in strong favour of LPP33. The City's responses to the issues raised in the written submissions are contained in the Schedule of Submissions (Attachment 3).
- 48. The key positives are summarised as follows:
 - a) a good starting point.
 - b) thorough and well considered.
 - c) Provides environmental and aesthetic benefits.
 - d) Recognises significant trees.
 - e) The City to be commended.
- 49. The key challenges are summarised as follows:
 - a) Complex policy.
 - b) Greater protection needed for tree root systems and under-storey native species;
 - c) Too many 'get out clauses' and insufficient penalties.
 - d) Eroding private property owners' rights and adding red tape.
 - e) Balancing outcomes with property damage and fire risk.
 - f) Support needed for (older) residents who may have difficulty maintaining properties.
 - g) Resources need to manage the implementation of the policy; and
 - h) Focused on administrative processes rather than outcomes.
- 50. Recommended modifications to LPP33 to address many of the issues raised by submitters are presented in the Schedule of Recommended Modifications (Attachment 5).
- 51. Variations to State Planning Policy 7.3 Residential Design Codes Volume 1 Deemed to Comply Provisions – WAPC Consideration The City received preliminary feedback in August 2021 from the DesignWA Team at the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH), to assist drafting of LPP33.
- 52. Draft LPP33 was referred to DPLH as part of the formal consultation, and formal endorsement by the WAPC to vary relevant deemed-to-comply provisions of the R-Codes Volume 1. It is noted that some modifications were made to improve the policy and in response to submissions received, to ensure the WAPC considered the latest information and policy requirements proposed.
- 53. Draft LPP33 was referred to DPLH in March 2022 seeking formal comment and approval from the WAPC to vary relevant deemed-to-comply provisions of the R-Codes.

- 54. WAPC correspondence received on 6 September 2022 (Attachment 3) confirmed approval for amendments to relevant deemed-to-comply provisions of clause 5.3.2 Landscaping (C2.1 (iii) and (vi), C2.2 (iii) (including Tables 1.1 and 1.2) and clause 5.3.4 Design of car parking spaces (C4.3), pursuant to clause 7.3.2 of SPP 7.3.
- 55. The WAPC supported variations for areas with a residential density code of R25 or less, which equates to lot sizes of 350m² or greater. This decision is supported given the WAPC is anticipated to introduce the new State Planning Policy 7.3 – Medium Density Code in early 2023, which will incorporate tree retention and replanting provisions for higher densities / smaller lots.
- 56. The City is required to delete clause 5.3.2 Landscaping C2.2 (i), (ii) and (iv) from the deemed-to-comply section of LPP33 and relocated to the Tree Retention General Requirements section. The City is also required to amend section 7(1) of LPP33 deleting reference to alternative design principles and include reference to Design Principles 5.3.4 Design of car parking spaces, with the provisions added to Table 1.
- 57. The WAPC also advised the City should make it clear that LPP33 does not remove any development approval exemptions under clause 61 of the Deemed Provisions of the Regulations; and the City will make recommendations to the WAPC on subdivision proposals with LPP33 provisions to be considered on a case-by-case basis and not to fetter subdivision application determinations by the WAPC.
- 58. Modifications to LPP33 addressing requirements and advice from the WAPC are also presented in Schedule of Recommended Modifications (Attachment 5).

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

- 59. All costs incurred during advertising and review of draft LPP33 were met through the Development Services annual budget.
- 60. LPP33 contains provisions for a financial offset for clearing of trees worthy of retention and street trees. To establish this arrangement, the City will create a special purpose account and adopt requisite fees in the annual Schedule of Fees and Charges. Additional procedures will also be required for the accrual and expenditure of funds. These arrangements are in the process of being established and will be implemented as a priority upon final adoption of LPP33.

SUSTAINABILITY

61. Social Implications

Trees are an important consideration for community health and liveability. Retention and enhancement of tree canopy will help maintain or improve contact with nature, with research showing improvements to physical and mental health of people, including child development

62. Research also shows that being close to nature can have a calming effect on people, be conducive to creative thinking and productivity, and can boost happiness and a sense of wellbeing. Retention or replating of trees will help cool urban areas and reduce the risk of heat related illness and harm during heatwaves.

63. **Economic Implications**

There is significant research to support the conclusion that suburbs with street trees and an established tree canopy cover increases the amenity and desirability to reside in, which in-turn may positively influence median property prices.

64. This policy is not seeking to prevent landowners from developing their property in accordance with the zoning and residential density, however the policy does emphasise the importance of good design that responds to site conditions, and consideration of tree retention, which could in turn reduce development and energy use costs.

65. Environmental Implications

There is an array of positive environmental outcomes associated with trees and vegetation and implementation of LPP33 including:

- a) Reduce the urban heat island effect by cooling and shading urban areas during summer;
- b) Providing essential habitat for native wildlife.
- c) Reduces air and water pollution.
- d) Reduces flooding events.
- e) Filters and stabilises waterways and maintains healthy soil:
- f) Improves resistance to disease; and
- g) Provides environmental resilience in a changing climate.
- 66. Trees on private property, street trees, and trees in public open space and regional reserves, will collectively provide better environments for wildlife, and human health and wellbeing.

RISK MANAGEMENT

6	7	
O	/	٠

Risk: The Tree Retention Policy is not adopted by Council and the City does not have an adopted approach to managing loss of tree canopy cover, and consequently amenity and biodiversity.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Significant	Likely	High

Action/Strategy

Council adopts the Tree Retention Policy for a balanced approach to facilitate tree retention to address protection and enhancement of tree canopy for broad benefits, with defined exemptions from approval for tree removal in certain circumstances.

68.

Risk: If trees are planted under City direction in City managed areas (i.e., road reserves/verges or parks/reserves), the City assumes responsibility for the tree and claims for damages caused by the tree (e.g. structural damaged caused roots).

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating	
Moderate	Likely	Medium	
Action/Strategy			

The City will continue to apply and improve practices to retain trees while minimising liability risk, in consultation with industry and other local authorities. Any claims for damage are to be address in the first instance through the City's insurer. There is a need to ensure future tree planting includes sufficient separation to driveways and other privately owned structures.

69. **Risk**: Adoption of the Tree Retention Policy increases resourcing pressures in dealing with policy queries, planning proposals, development applications and compliance.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating	
Moderate	Likely	Medium	
Action (Ctratem			

Action/Strategy The City has procedures in place for processing planning proposals, development applications and compliance matters. Staff will be trained to ensure efficient implementation of the policy. Supporting guidance has been prepared including a valuation methodology procedure for tree offsets and a tree planting guide. Resourcing needs will be considered on an ongoing basis in line with reviews to the policy.

CONCLUSION

- 70. The purpose of LPP33 is to carefully consider the need for the removal of trees and, where possible, minimise the removal of trees of a particular size and maturity through, the planning and development process. LPP33 also seeks, where practical, to increase canopy cover with replanting provisions.
- 71. The objectives of LPP33 are consistent with the City's strategic intent established under Clean and Green and ELUPS, together with other supporting strategies. Furthermore, LPP33 is consistent with design principles established under existing and proposed State Planning Policies (R-Codes) that generally seek to retain significant trees and/or provide new trees to maintain and enhance the tree canopy and local sense of place.
- 72. LPP33 represents a balanced and considered position and adoption will strengthen the City's planning processes and practices to manage trees worthy of retention and planting of additional trees to achieve sustainable urban tree canopy outcomes.
- 73. The proposed changes to LPP33 as set out in Schedule of Recommended Modifications (Attachment 5) address some issues raised by submitters and WAPC requirements and will improve the clarity and provisions of LPP33 to achieve the planning purpose and objectives of the policy.
- 74. The success and implementation of LPP33, over time, will be monitored through the City's Urban Forest Strategy.
- 75. It is therefore recommended that Council adopt LPP33.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 177/2022

That Council:

- NOTE the submissions received during public advertising of draft Local Planning Policy 33 - Tree Retention as contained in the Community Engagement Report 2021 (Attachment 2), the Western Australian Planning Commission correspondence (Attachment 3), and the staff responses to submissions contained in the Schedule of Submissions (Attachment 4).
- 2. ADOPT Local Planning Policy 33 Tree Retention (Attachment 6) with modifications, in accordance with Schedule 2, Part 2, Clause 4(3)(b)(ii) the Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme) Regulations 2015.

- ACKNOWLEDGE Local Planning Policy 33 Tree
 Retention may undergo minor graphical, illustrative and clause numbering changes prior to the final version being published.
- Moved: Cr Kathy Ritchie
- Seconded: Cr Janelle Sewell
- Vote:ForAgainCr Janelle SewellCr JolCr Kellie MiskiewiczCr DyCr Sue BilichCr GeCr Andrew OsentonCr MatCr Lisa CooperCr BrownCr Kathy RitchieCr Margaret Thomas

<u>Against</u> Cr John Giardina Cr Dylan O'Connor Cr Geoff Stallard Cr Mary Cannon Cr Brooke O'Donnell

CARRIED (7/5)

The presiding member adjourned the meeting at 8:27pm.

The meeting recommenced at 8:36pm.

All Councillors and staff returned to the meeting.

10.2. Asset Services Reports

No reports presented.

10.3. Corporate Services Reports

No reports presented.

10.4. Office of the CEO Reports

10.4.1. Code of Conduct - Complaints Management

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previ Item:		SCM	02/2022
Direc	torate	Offic	e of the CEO
20.01.		Gove	ernance and Legal
Attac	hments	1.	Draft Governance 20 Code of Conduct Complaints Management 2022 with c [10.4.1.1 - 15 pages]
EPORT			

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
V	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance. *Strategy 4.1.1* - Provide good governance.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is for Council to consider a recommendation from the Behaviour Complaints Committee (BCC) with respect to a proposed revised Council Policy Governance 20: Code of Conduct Complaints Management (Policy).
- 2. The review of the Policy was initiated by the BCC as a consequence of issues encountered during the consideration of initial complaints of alleged breaches of the City of Kalamunda Code of Conduct for Elected Members, Committee Members and Candidates (Code of Conduct).
- 3. It is recommended that Council accept the recommendation from the BCC and approve consequential changes to the complaint handling process.

BACKGROUND

- 4. The current Policy was developed from a pro-forma model provide by the WA Local Government Association (WALGA) to assist local governments and Councils fulfil their statutory obligations under the State Government mandated Code of Conduct introduced in early 2021.
- 5. The new provisions obligated local governments and Councils to consider and decide on complaints of alleged breaches of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Code of Conduct.
- In order to assist Council undertake this task, it adopted a Complaint
 Management Policy, The Policy adopted by Council included provision for
 the establishment and operation of a Behaviour Complaints Committee.
- 7. During consideration of a complaint of an alleged breach of the Code of Conduct, the BCC identified a number of issues with the current Policy and process.
- 8. At a Special Council Meeting in February 2022, Council endorsed a proposal for the BCC to review and recommend changes to the Policy.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 9. Whilst it is imperative to have a complaint management policy/process, it is recognised that the process should also be efficient and provide for timely consideration of any complaints.
- 10. The BCC considered that one of the main concerns is the use of this style of committee to receive, consider and recommend outcomes to Council, adds an unnecessary layer of bureaucracy/red tape to process and delays the timely consideration of complaints.
- 11. It was also considered that a number of other processes in the current Policy were not suitable to ensure effective and timely consideration of complaints.
- 12. A revised Governance 20 Policy has been developed and is provided as Attachment 1. The revised Policy is based on similar policies adopted by local governments, particularly the City of South Perth.
- 13. The major changes to the current Policy are:
 - a) Abolition of the Behaviour Complaints Committee
 - b) Deletion of the Alternate Dispute Resolution provision (was clause 4.4 f).
 - c) Stream-lining provisions with respect to receipt, handling, the assessment and investigation of complaints.

The revised Policy still retains the assessment and investigation of complaints by an independent third party.

- 14. Additionally, research of other local government processes has revealed that the Chief Executive Officer should be the appointed Complaints Officer. This role requires the CEO to receive all complaints, decide as to the validity of the compliant, and if valid, issue the complaint to an independent party.
- 15. The CEO is not required to assess, investigate, or determine complaints as this would place the CEO in a position of perceived bias. The CEO is essentially the administrator of the complaint process, and if required, can delegate the role to a City officer or an external party.
- 16. Once a complaint is referred to an external party an independent assessment and report with recommendations will be issued. The CEO will issue the report and the findings to the Council. The Council can either accept or reject or alter the recommendations of the independent party's report.

17. This process is the same process that occurred prior to the Model Code of Conduct coming into effect.

APPLICABLE LAW

 18. Local Government Act 1995.
 Local Government (Model Code of Conduct) Regulations 2021.
 City of Kalamunda Code of Conduct for Elected Members, Committee Members and Candidates

APPLICABLE POLICY

19. City of Kalamunda Governance 20 - Complaints Management Policy

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 20. The consideration and development of the revised Policy has been undertaken by the BCC.
- 21. It is not considered appropriate to seek community comment on this Policy as it is effectively an internal process.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

22. No additional expenditure is expected to be incurred as a consequence of adopting the revised Policy.

SUSTAINABILITY

23. N/A

RISK MANAGEMENT

24.	Risk : The lack of a simple and fast process for handling complaints will result in higher costs, undue stress for those involved and could be seen as being unfair.		
	Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
	Moderate	Likely	Medium
	Action/Strategy		
	Adopt the revised mo	odel being presented in th	nis report.

CONCLUSION

25. The revised Policy provides for a more efficient and stream-lined process for the management of complaints of alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct.

Voting Requirements: Absolute Majority

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- 1. NOTE the review of Governance Policy 20 Code of Conduct Complaints Management.
- 2. ADOPT revised Governance Policy 20 Code of Conduct Complaints Management (Attachment 1)
- 3. Pursuant to section 5.8 of the *Local Government Act 1995*, DISBAND the Behaviour Complaints Committee
- 4. Pursuant to clause 11.3 of the City of Kalamunda Code of Conduct Elected Members, Committee Members and Candidates, RECIND the appointments of the Director Corporate Services and Governance Advisors as Complaints Officers and APPOINTS the Chief Executive Officer.

Cr Bilich supported the recommendation with an additional point. The amendment was presented to the meeting and supported.

RESOLVED OCM 178/2022

That Council:

- 1. NOTE the review of Governance Policy 20 Code of Conduct Complaints Management.
- 2. ADOPT revised Governance Policy 20 Code of Conduct Complaints Management (Attachment 1)
- 3. Pursuant to section 5.8 of the *Local Government Act 1995*, DISBAND the Behaviour Complaints Committee
- 4. Pursuant to clause 11.3 of the City of Kalamunda Code of Conduct Elected Members, Committee Members and Candidates, RECIND the appointments of the Director Corporate Services and Governance Advisors as Complaints Officers and APPOINTS the Chief Executive Officer.

5. Request the Chief Executive Officer to write to the Department of Local Government and Cultural Industries and advocate to the Western Australian Local Government Association requesting that confidentiality requirements for code of conduct complaints be extended to declaration of interests and that the legislation is adjusted to enable confidential declarations to be made.

Moved: Cr Sue Bilish

Seconded: Cr John Giardina

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

10.4.2. Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA) Best Practice Governance Review

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous ltems Directorate Business Unit File Reference Applicant Owner		ernance
Attachments	1. 2.	WALGA DISCUSSION PAPER 2022 [10.4.2.1 - 20 pages] WALGA REVIEW Consultation Paper Model Options [10.4.2.2 - 22 pages]

TYPE OF REPORT

۵	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance. *Strategy 4.1.1* - Provide good governance. *Strategy 4.1.2* - Build an effective and efficient service based organisation.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- The purpose of this report is to provide feedback to the Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA) on its Best Practice Governance Review Consultation paper.
- 2. The objective of the review is to ensure WALGA's governance and engagement models are contemporary, agile, and maximise engagement with members.
- 3. This report recommends that the City of Kalamunda advise WALGA of its preference governance model being Option 4.

BACKGROUND

- 4. WALGA developed its Corporate Strategy 2020-25 and in doing so identified as a key strategic priority to undertake a Best Practice Governance Review.
- 5. The objective of the review is to ensure WALGA's governance and engagement models are contemporary, agile, and maximise engagement with members.
- 6. Other drivers for the review included
 - Misalignment between key governance documents Constitution, Corporate Governance Charter, State Council Code of Conduct, and Standing Orders stemming from varying amendments
 - State Council's 3 September 2021 resolution requesting amendment to the Constitution to deal with matters related to State Councillors' Candidature for State and Federal elections
 - Proposed legislative reforms to remove WALGA from being constituted under the Local Government Act 1995
 - Constitutional requirements for WALGA to become a registered organisation under the Industrial Relations Act 1979 which would enable WALGA to make applications in its own right to the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission
- 7. In March 2022 State Council commissioned the Best Practice Governance Review and established a Steering Committee (BPGRSG)to guide the Review.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 8. The Key outputs from the BPGR Steering Committee meetings included:
 - Agreement on five comparator organisations being the Australian Medical Association, the WA Chamber of Commerce and Industry, the WA Chamber of Minerals and Energy, the Australian Hotels Association and the Pharmacy Guild and the review of governance models of Local Government Associations in other Australian States and Territories, and New Zealand
 - Drafting of governance principles that will underpin future governance models
 - Finalisation of governance principles and principle components across the domains of Representative, Responsive and Results Oriented.
- 9. The governance model principles and principle components across the domains of Representative, Responsive and Results Oriented. The principles were endorsed at the WALGA AGM on 3 October 2022.
- 10. Governance model options being presented by WALGA included:
 - Option 1 Two tier model, existing zones
 - Option 2 Board, regional bodies
 - Option 3 Board, amalgamated zones
 - Option 4 Member elected board, regional groups
 - Option 5 Current model

11. **Option 1 - Two tiered model – Board supported by Policy Council with** existing zones

<u>Board</u>

The Board would comprise of 11 Members/Directors with 8 elected from and by the Policy Council (4 from the Metro, 4 from Country) and 3 independent Members/Directors appointed by the Board. The Board elects the President

The Board would meet 6 times per year and be responsible for governance of WALGA including strategy, financial oversight, policy development and endorsement, advocacy priorities, employment of CEO, etc.

Policy Council

The Policy Council would comprise 24 members plus President. Members elected by and from the Zones (5 Metro Zones, 12 Country Zones). The Zones select the members, 12 from Metro 12 Country Zones)

The Policy Council would meet at least 2 times per year to contribute to policy positions and advocacy for input into Board, and to liaise with Zones on policy and advocacy.

The Policy Council can form Policy Teams, Policy Forums and Committees, which would have responsibility for specific functions, such as policy development

<u>Zones</u>

Zones will meet at least 2 times per year to raise policy issues, elect representatives to the Policy Council, and undertake regional advocacy and projects as directed by the Zone.

12. Pros

A smaller board would make decision making more efficient and provide diversity and different views through having non-elected member independent board members.

A policy Council would be able to focus on specific policy issues which would likely make policy making less complicated that the existing model.

13. Cons

This model adds another layer by having a Policy Council this may result in a less efficient WALGA as well as less agile.

Furthermore, it will require more time from councillors to participate who are nominated for Zones, then Policy Council and possibly on the Board. Mid-sized councils, like Kalamunda, will likely find themselves at a disadvantage in participating as the number of councillors are reduced in 2023.

14. Commentary

This model would be more desirable if there are two Policy Councils formed one for metro councils and one for the Regions to give better focus on issues relating to the vastly different needs of country and metro councils.

Furthermore, if zone meetings are reduced from 4 to 2 it will likely have transparency issues arise for WALGA as it may become a resource intensive information sharing forum rather than decision making.

15. **Option 2 Board with regional bodies**

<u>Board</u>

The Board would comprise of 11 Members/Directors with 8 elected from and by the Policy Council (4 from the Metro, 4 from Country) and 3 independent Members/Directors appointed by the Board. The Board elects the President The Board would meet 6 times per year and be responsible for governance of WALGA including strategy, financial oversight, policy development and endorsement, advocacy priorities, employment of CEO, etc.

Regional Bodies

Five Regional Bodies would be formed:

- 1. Metro
- 2. North, South, East and Central
- 3. Country
- 4. Mining Pastoral, Agricultural, Peel
- 5. South West/Great Southern, Regional Capitals

Local Governments can nominate their preferred regional body, with membership of the regional bodies to be determined by the board. Regional Bodies would meet at least 2 times per year to contribute to policy development and advocacy, and to elect Board members 1 from each of the Metro Regional Bodies and 1 from each of the Country Regional Bodies.

Policy Teams, Forums, Committees Membership would be drawn from the Board and Regional Bodies with some independent members. These groups would be responsible for specific functions such as policy development as determined by the Board.

16. Pros

A smaller board would make decision making more efficient and provide diversity and different views through having non-elected member independent board members.

Regional Boards would be able to focus on specific policy issues relating to the needs of their areas which would likely make policy making more efficient and relevant.

17. Cons

This model would likely result in less direct participation from local governments unless all LGAs can participate on a regional body or have a way to feed their views into the regional bodies. For example, the metro regional body would have 31 members if all metro LGAs were to participate which would likely make it unwieldy and dysfunctional.

18. Commentary

This model could be improved if there were two Metro Regional Boards, once for inner metro LGAs and one for the outer growth councils. The issues facing growth councils are vastly different from those surrounding the CBD.

19. **Option 3 Board with amalgamated zones**

<u>Board</u>

The Board would comprise 15 Members/Directors with 12 elected from the Zones (6 from Metro/Peel, 6 from Country). The Board will appoint up to 2 independent, skills or constituency directors. The President to be elected by the Board.

The Board would meet 6 times per year and be responsible for governance of WALGA including strategy, financial oversight, policy development and endorsement, advocacy priorities, employment of CEO, etc.

<u>Zones</u>

The Zones would be: Metro/Peel:

- Central Metropolitan
- East Metropolitan
- North Metropolitan
- South Metropolitan
- South East Metropolitan
- Peel

Country*:

- Wheatbelt South
- Wheatbelt North
- Mid-West / Murchison /Gascoyne
- Pilbara / Kimberley
- South West / Great Southern
- Goldfields / Esperance

The Zones would meet at least 2 times per year to contribute to policy development and advocacy, and to elect Board members.

Policy Teams /Forums /Committees would be utilised with membership drawn from Board with some independent members and would be responsible for specific functions such as policy development as determined by the Board.

20. Pros

A smaller board would make decision making more efficient and provide diversity and different views through having non-elected member independent board, however 15 is still a large number so there would likely be moderate efficiency gains in this case.

This model provides a fair spread of representation by all the LGAs through the retention of zones that are being amalgamated.

21. Cons

It is unclear if the zones will still be required to consider the Board's agendas, and if so, then holding a smaller number of meetings than the Board would be a problem in terms of decision making for the Board. It is unclear if the Zones role in policy development would be a duplication with Policy team etc.

22. Commentary

This model needs more clarity about how it will function. The role of Zones need further clarification before this model can be assessed fully.

23. Option 4 Member elected board and regional groups

Board

The Board would comprise of 11 Members/Directors with 8 elected from and by the Policy Council (4 from the Metro, 4 from Country) and 3 independent Members/Directors appointed by the Board. The Board elects the President

The Board would meet 6 times per year and be responsible for governance of WALGA including strategy, financial oversight, policy development and endorsement, advocacy priorities, employment of CEO, etc.

Policy Teams /Forums /Committees would be utilised with membership drawn from Board with some independent members and be responsible for specific functions such as policy development as determined by the Board. These groups would meet at least 2 times per year.

Regional Groups

Regional Groups would be determined by members to suit needs E g Regional Capitals, GAPP, Regional Councils, CEO Group, and existing Zones and would feed into policy development processes and undertake advocacy and projects as determined by the groups.

24. Pros

A smaller board would make decision making more efficient and provide diversity and different views through having non-elected member independent board members.

The Regional Bodies would be advantageous in many ways as they would have the knowledge and skills to look at matters from within their areas, thus creating opportunity for greater relevance.

This model draws on the expertise of groups that currently exist and hence would not require any further support or resourcing from WALGA.

25. Cons

There may be less elected Members participation in this model and hence information flows to Councils may be reduced.

26. Commentary

This model would be more desirable if the WALGA Board agendas were distributed to all LGAs ahead of a meeting. LGAs could then table the agenda and consider any items the LGA needs to provide commentary back to the Board prior to board meetings. That may address any loss of information flow.

27. **Option 5 Current model**

The State Council has 24 members plus the President Members elected by and from the Zones (12 from 5 Metropolitan Zones, 12 from 12 Country Zones). State Council is responsible for the governance of WALGA including strategy, financial oversight, policy development and endorsement, advocacy, employment of CEO, etc. State Council is responsible for considering the State Council Agenda, elect State Councillors, and undertake regional advocacy projects as directed by the Zone.

- 28. WALGA currently uses Policy Teams / Forums / Committees Membership drawn from State Council with some independent members and are responsible for specific functions such as contributing to policy development, financial oversight etc as determined by State Council.
- 29. Pros The current model provides large participation for LGAs via State Council and the zones.

30. Cons

The current model has been viewed as being too large to be an agile and efficient decision making body. The current model requires all zones to consider agenda items which makes timelines for decision making around advocacy delayed. Advocacy matters need to be agile, flexible and adaptive to be highly effective.

The broad scope of the matters that State Council deal often have little or no relevance to all LGAs as they are regional specific matters. Streamlining the current model is needed.

31. Commentary

Retaining the current model would result in an outdated approach to governance and advocacy. Likewise, the current use of the zones tends to be inefficient and in many cases zones meetings are down on elected member participation.

Agendas are mostly information dissemination rather than decision making. Often matters of advocacy are submitted late or by flying minutes due to the nature of the current structure and does not enable WALGA to be as effective and efficient as it could be under a more modern and leaner structure.

APPLICABLE LAW

32. Nil.

APPLICABLE POLICY

33. Nil.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

34. Not Applicable.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

35. N/A

SUSTAINABILITY

36. Not Applicable

RISK MANAGEMENT

37.

Risk: By not participating in providing feedback to WALGA the City could lose effective representation for metropolitan area.

	Low	
Action/Strategy		
Provide a position to WALGA.		

CONCLUSION

- 38. The City in assessing the best model for WALGA has based its choice on:
 - Achieving equal representation between metropolitan and regional local governments.
 - The most efficient and effective model for agile advocacy.
 - The most contemporary governance model.

Based on the above criteria and the information provided by WALGA, the City has ranked the proposed model options:

- 1) Option 4
- 2) Option 3
- 3) Option 2
- 4) Option 1
- 5) Option 5.
- 39. The City considers that both Option 3 and 4 would be suitable options but based on the information currently available, Option 4 is preferred.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 179/2022

That Council ADVISE the Western Australian Local Government Association that the City of Kalamunda has ranked in order of preference, the proposed governance models as follows:

1)	Option 4
าง	

2)	Option 3
2)	

- 3) Option 2
 4) Option 1
- 5) Option 5

S) Option S

Moved: Cr Dylan O'Connor

Seconded: Cr Sue Bilich

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

10.4.3. Nature Fund Proposal

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items Directorate Business Unit File Reference Applicant Owner	-	ce of the CEO lic & Customer Relations
Attachments	1.	Ltr to Councilllors re Enviro Levy June 2022 final

[**10.4.3.1** - 2 pages]

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency	
0	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets	
	Information	For Council to note	
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal	

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.1 - To be a community that advocates, facilities and provides quality lifestyles choices.

Strategy 1.1.2 - Empower, support and engage all of the community. *Strategy 1.1.3* - Facilitate opportunity to pursue learning.

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.2 - To provide a safe and healthy environment for community to enjoy.

Strategy - 1.2.3 Provide high quality and accessible recreational and social spaces and facilities.

Strategy - 1.2.1 Facilitate a safe community environment.

Priority 1: Kalamunda Cares and Interacts

Objective 1.3 - To support the active participation of local communities. *Strategy 1.3.1* - Support local communities to connect, grow and shape the future of Kalamunda.

Priority 2: Kalamunda Clean and Green

Objective 2.1 - To protect and enhance the environmental values of the City.

Strategy 2.1.4 - Increasing and protecting local biodiversity and conservation, wherever possible, through integrating ecosystem and biodiversity protection into planning processes including schemes policies and strategies.

Strategy 2.1.5 - Community engagement and education in environmental management.

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.2 - To connect community to key centres of activity, employment and quality amenities.

Strategy 3.2.1 - Ensure existing assets are maintained to meet community expectations.

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.2 - To proactively engage and partner for the benefit of community. *Strategy 4.2.1* - Actively engage with the community in innovative ways.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to consider a request from the Nature Reserves Preservation Group, Inc (NRPG) regarding creation of a proposed Nature Fund to fund environmental initiatives.
- 2. Whilst commendable in concept, it would be prudent to seek the views of the community before the City of Kalamunda (City) sets up such a scheme
- 3. The recommendation is to undertake community consultation about the idea of a proposed 'Nature Fund.'

BACKGROUND

- 4. The City has received a request from NRPG for the City to consider establishing a 'Nature Fund' to be funded by voluntary ratepayer contributions.
- 5. It would operate as a Reserve Account for a specific purpose within the City's accounting and budgeting standards.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 6. NRPG have recognised the City's support for environmental initiatives in previous years funded through a combination of rates funding and grants as well as limited ability for City to significantly increased rates funding for environmental initiatives.
- 7. They has suggested the City initiate a 'Nature Fund' which can be funded by a voluntary ratepayer 'Environmental Levy' and could be included in the Rates notice to City residents, together with a brief description on why it is needed and how it would be used. It is proposed the dollar donation amount would be optional to the ratepayer.
- 8. Examples of these types of similar initiatives in other parts of Australia include:

Ku-Ring-Gai Council (Sydney) "Environmental Levy":

https://www.krg.nsw.gov.au/Environment/Environmental-levy

Brisbane's "Bushland Preservation Levy"

https://www.brisbane.qld.gov.au/clean-andgreen/natural-environmentand-water/biodiversity-in-brisbane/protecting-thenaturalenvironment/bushland-preservation-levy

- 9. The City is not aware of any current 'Nature Levy's' in Western Australia.
- 10. The NRPG note, "Inclusion of this payment option with the Rates notice would cost the City no more, and give concerned residents a chance to contribute and feel a pride and part in their surrounds. It would require only a 'tick box' and the ratepayer's nominated dollar amount on the notice. Such a levy may, may even be accepted as an 'in kind' contribution when attracting outside funding."
- 11. However, such a scheme would incur City management time in administration and disbursement of any funds raised.

- 12. A copy of the letter received by the NRPG is provided as Attachment 1.
- 13. The City has no basis to work from to determine if such a scheme will make meaningful impacts upon environmental funding. As such it is appropriate that community feedback is sought to ascertain what possible level of ratepayer funding support may exist and willingness to participate.
- 14. It is deemed necessary to undertake this consultation and seek further direction from Council prior to undertaking the necessary preparations for the 2023/2024 budget process.

APPLICABLE LAW

15. *Local Government Act 1995*

APPLICABLE POLICY

16. Service 5: Communication and Engagement.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

17. The City proposes to undertake community consultation to gauge the level of community support amongst the wider population.

Questions will be posed regarding whether ratepayers would support voluntary contributions to such a scheme as well as potential levels of funding that they would offer.

18. It is proposed that this take the form of a communications and engagement project, which is open for a minimum of 60 days.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

19. Consultation on the proposal will cost approximately \$500.00

SUSTAINABILITY

20. If the community is supportive of the proposal it has to the potential to enhance the City's environmental sustainability.

RISK MANAGEMENT

21. **Risk**: The City is criticised for seeking more funding from ratepayers in tight economic circumstances.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Moderate	Possible	Medium			
Action/Strategy					
Community engagement emphasises the voluntary nature of the					
proposal. That it is proposed to be optional.					

22.

Risk: The City is criticised for determining to proceed or not proceed with the proposal without seeking community views.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Moderate	Likely	Medium			
Action/Strategy					
Undertaking community engagement provides Council with evidence to					
base a subsequent decision upon. A comprehensive community					
engagement report is proposed to be presented to Council post					
engagement.					

CONCLUSION

- 23. The novel nature of this proposal to be managed by the City suggests that prior to determining whether to proceed or not, that the views of the community be sought.
- 24. It is proposed that the consultation will commence in early 2023.

RESOLVED OCM 180/2022

That Council APPROVE community consultation to take place in regard to the Nature Reserves Preservation Group Inc's proposal for a Nature Fund to be developed for the City of Kalamunda and a subsequent report be provided for consideration.

Moved: Cr Kathy Ritchie

Seconded: Cr John Giardina

Vote:

<u>For</u> Cr John Giardina Cr Geoff Stallard Cr Janelle Sewell Cr Mary Cannon Cr Kellie Miskiewicz Cr Brooke O'Donnell Cr Sue Bilich Cr Andrew Osenton Cr Lisa Cooper Cr Kathy Ritchie <u>Against</u> Cr Dylan O'Connor Cr Margaret Thomas

CARRIED (10/2)
10.5. **Chief Executive Officer Reports**

10.5.1. **Draft Monthly Financial Statements to 30 November 2022**

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

	Previous Items		N/A	
	Directorat Business L	Directorate Business Unit File Reference Applicant		oorate Services ncial Services SRR-006
	Attachmer	nts	1.	Statement of Financial Activity for the period ended 30 November 2022 [10.5.1.1 - 1 page]
			2.	Statement of Net Current Funding Position as at 30 November 2022 [10.5.1.2 - 1 page]
TYPE	OF REPORT			
	Advocacy			uncil is advocating on behalf of the community to evel of government/body/agency
	Executive	sett		uncil is undertaking its substantive role of direction nd oversight (e.g. accepting tenders, adopting plans gets
	Information	For	Coun	cil to note
	Legislative	Poli imp natu app issu	ncludes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes, an Policies. When the Council determines a matter that direct mpacts a person's rights and interests where the principle natural justice apply. Examples include town planning pplications, building licenses, other permits or licenses assued under other Legislation or matters that could be ubject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal	

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance.

Strategy 4.1.1 - Provide good governance.

Strategy 4.1.2 - Build an effective and efficient service-based organisation.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to provide Council with the Statutory Financial Statements for the period ended 30 November 2022.
- 2. The Statutory Financial Statements report on the activity of the City of Kalamunda (City) with the comparison of the period's performance against the first term budget review adopted by the Council on 25 November 2022 for the 2022/2023 financial year.
- 3. It is recommended Council receives the draft Monthly Statutory Financial Statements for the period ended 30 November 2022, which comprise:
 - a) Statement of Financial Activity (Nature or Type);
 - b) Net Current Funding Position, note to the financial report

BACKGROUND

4. The Statement of Financial Activity (Attachment 1), incorporating various sub-statements, has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government Act 1995 (Act)* and Regulation 34 of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996*.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 5. The Act requires the Council to adopt a percentage or value to be used in reporting variances against the Budget. Council has adopted the reportable variances of 10% or \$50,000 whichever is greater.
- 6. The opening funding position in the Statement of Financial Activity reflects the audited surplus carried forward from 2021/2022.

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY

Draft Statement of Financial Activity by Nature and Type for the period ended 30 November 2022

7. This Statement reveals a net result surplus of \$31,466,840 compared to the budget for the same period of \$27,374,602.

Operating Revenue

- 8. Total Revenue excluding rates is over budget by \$1,379,890. This is made up as follows:
 - a) Operating Grants, Subsidies and Contributions are over budget by \$587,077. The variance is mainly attributable to the employee workers compensation claims raised.
 - b) Fees and Charges are over budget by \$417,468. The variance is mainly attributable to;
 - i) Legal fees from rates debt collection is higher than the budgeted income.
 - ii) Planning and building application fees are higher than the budgeted income.
 - c) Interest earnings are over budget by \$342,219. The variance is mainly due to the rates instalment plan interest.
 - d) Other Revenue is under budget by \$3,596. The variance is mainly due to the fire prevention work penalties and is considered as a timing issue.

Operating Expenditure

- 9. Total expenditure is under budget by \$2,925,991. The significant variances within the individual categories are as follows:
 - a) Employment Costs are under budget by \$1,102,714, which is primarily due to the fact that the EBA salary adjustments have not yet been paid. Also vacant positions and the aggregate result of minor variances in several business units have contributed to the variance.
 - b) Materials and Contracts are under budget by \$771,030. The variance is mainly due to the timing of building maintenance costs and infrastructure maintenance costs.
 - c) Utilities are under budget by \$53,383, the variance is mainly due to the aggregate result of minor variances in several business units.
 - d) Depreciation, although a non-cash cost, is tracking under budget, reporting a variance of \$905,249.
 - e) Interest and Insurance expenses are tracking below the reportable variance threshold.
 - f) Other expenditure is over budget by \$39,991. The variance is primarily due to the timing of donations given to the community groups.

Investing Activities

Non-operating Grants and Contributions

10. The non-operating grants and contributions are over budget by \$31,696. The variance is mainly due to the timing of receiving grant funding related to various roads capital projects.

Capital Expenditure

- 11. The total Capital Expenditure on Property, Plant, Equipment, and Infrastructure Assets (excluding Capital Work in Progress) is under budget by \$484,495. This is considered to be a timing issue.
- 12. Capital works-in-progress expenditure of \$5,644 represents the costs expended on Forrestfield Industrial Area Scheme Stage 1 and CELL 9 Wattle Grove development. The relevant expenditure is funded by the Forrestfield Industrial Area Scheme Stage 1 reserve account and the CELL 9 trust account. These assets once constructed will be passed over to the City for management.

Financing Activities

The amounts attributable to financing activities show a variance of
 \$472,691 which is mainly due to the developer contributions and reserve transfers.

Rates Revenues

14. Rates generation is over budget with a variance of \$118,300.

Statement of Net Current Funding Position as of 30 November 2022

- 15. The commentary on the net current funding position is based on a comparison of November 2022 to the November 2021 actuals.
- 16. Net Current Assets (Current Assets less Current Liabilities) total \$51 million. The restricted cash position is \$24.3 million which is lower than the previous year's balance of \$24.5 million. The variance is mainly due to the timing of fund release from unexpended capital works and the specific purpose grants reserve.

17. The following graph indicates the financial institutions where the City has investments as of 30 November 2022;



18.

*Financial Institutions with Investments in the Fossil Fuel Industry



- 19. Trade and other receivables outstanding comprise rates and sundry debtors totalling \$13.5 million.
- Sundry debtors have decreased from \$473,455 to \$304,685, of which
 \$254,176 consists of current debt due within 30 days. Details are
 contained in the Debtors and Creditors Report to Council.
- 21. Receivables Other represents \$3.5 million including:a) Emergency Service Levy receivables \$1.8 million;b) Receivables sanitation \$1 million

22. Provisions for annual and long service leave have increased by \$0.1 million to \$4.6 million when compared to the previous year.

APPLICABLE LAW

23. The Local Government Act 1995 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996.

APPLICABLE POLICY

24. Nil.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Internal Referrals

25. The City's executive and management monitor and review the underlying business unit reports which form the consolidated results presented in this report.

External Referrals

26. As noted in point 24 above, the City is required to present to the Council a monthly statement of financial activity with explanations for major variances.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

27. The City's financial position continues to be closely monitored to ensure it is operating sustainably and to allow for future capacity.

SUSTAINABILITY

Social Implications

28. Nil.

Economic Implications

29. Nil.

Environmental Implications

30. Nil.

RISK MANAGEMENT

31.

Risk: Over-spending the budget.

Componence		Dating				
Consequence	Likelihood	Rating				
Moderate	Possible	Medium				
Action/Strategy						
Monthly management reports are reviewed by the City and Council.						
Procurement compliance is centrally controlled via the Finance						
Department.						

32.

Risk: Non-compliance with Financial Regulations

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating			
Moderate	Unlikely	Low			
Action / Strategy					
The financial report is scrutinised by the City to ensure that all statutory					
requirements are met.					
Internal Audit reviews to ensure compliance with Financial Regulations.					
External Audit confirms compliance.					

CONCLUSION

33. The City's Financial Statements as at 30 November 2022 demonstrate the City has managed its budget and financial resources effectively.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 181/2022

That Council RECEIVE the Draft Monthly Statutory Financial Statements for the period ended 30 November 2022 which comprises:

- a) Statement of Financial Activity (Nature or Type);
- b) Net Current Funding Position, note to the financial report

Moved: Cr Sue Bilich

- Seconded: Cr Geoff Stallard
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

10.5.2. Rates Debtors Report for the Period Ended 30 November 2022

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items	N/A
Directorate	Corporate Services
Business Unit	Financial Services
File Reference	FI-DRS-004
Applicant	N/A
Owner	N/A
Attachments	1. Rates Report November 2022 [10.5.2.1 - 1 page]

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
D	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (e.g. accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance.*Strategy 4.1.1* - Provide good governance.*Strategy 4.1.2* - Build an effective and efficient service-based organisation.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information on the rates collection percentage and the status of recovery actions.

- 2. The City of Kalamunda (City) levied rates for 2022/2023 on 1 July 2022 totalling \$41,664,711. As of 30 November 2022, \$30,553,202 has been collected for current and prior year outstanding rates for the November 2022 period.
- 3. It is recommended that Council receive the Rates Debtors Report for the month of November 2022 (Attachment 1).

BACKGROUND

4. Rate Notices were issued on 15 July 2022 with the following payment options available:

Options		Payme		
Full	19 August			
payment	2022			
Two	19 August	23 December		
instalments	2022	2022		
Four	19 August	21 October	23 December	24 February
instalments	2022	2022	2022	2023

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 5. A total of 23,828 notices were issued on 15 July 2022. This consisted of 20,773 mailed rate notices, and 3,055 eRates notices. Rates Levied and Collectable for the 2022/2023 Financial Year currently total \$44,487,234.
- 6. As of 30 November 2022, a total of \$30,553,202 has been collected since Rates Notices were released, representing a collection rate of 70.16%.
- 7. A total of 8,130 ratepayers have taken up an instalment option. This is an increase from 2021/2022 where 7,576 chose an instalment option. The first due date was 19 August 2022. A total of 350 ratepayers have chosen to pay via direct debit, a significant increase from 156 in 2021/2022. Refer to the table below:

Option	Description	Number
Option 2 on Rate Notice	Two instalments	1,645
Option 3 on Rate Notice	Four instalments	6,485
A Smarter Way to Pay	Pay by Direct Debit over a	
	mutually agreed period.	227
Direct Debit	Payment to be received by April	
	2023	123
Total	Ratepayers on payment options	8,480

- 8. Interim rating has now commenced for 2022/2023. To 30 November 2022
 \$208,268 has been raised for interim rating revenue.
- 9. Call recording software has been utilised in the Rates Department since 2015, primarily for customer service purposes, as it allows calls to be reviewed for training and process improvement purposes. For the period 1 November 2022 to 30 November 2022, there was a total of 413 incoming calls and 226 outgoing calls, equating to 23.55 hours call time.

APPLICABLE LAW

The City collects its rates debts in accordance with the *Local Government Act 1995* Division 6 – Rates and Service Charges under the requirements of subdivision 5 – Recovery of unpaid rates and service charges.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 11. The City's rates collection procedures are in accordance with the Debt Collection Policy S-FIN02.
- 12. The Financial Hardship Policy adopted by Council on 7 April 2020 enables the provision of Financial Assistance to those seriously impacted by Covid-19.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Internal Referrals

13. The City's Governance Unit has been briefed on the debt collection process.

External Referrals

14. The higher-level debt collection actions will be undertaken by AMPAC.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

15. The early raising of rates in July allows the City's operations to commence without delays improving cashflow, in addition to earning additional interest income.

SUSTAINABILITY

Social Implications

- 16. Debt collection can have implications upon those ratepayers facing financial hardship and the City must ensure equity in its debt collection policy and processes.
- 17. The City has "a smarter way to pay" direct debit option to help ease the financial hardship to its customers. This has proved very effective with a growing number of ratepayers taking advantage of this option. A "Smarter Way to Pay" allows ratepayers to pay smaller amounts on a continuous basis either weekly or fortnightly, helping to reduce their financial burden.

Economic Implications

18. Effective collection of all outstanding debtors leads to enhanced financial sustainability for the City.

Environmental Implications

19. The increase in the take up of eRates, as a system of Rate Notice delivery, will contribute to lower carbon emissions due to a reduction in printing and postage.

RISK MANAGEMENT

20.

Risk : Failure to collect outstanding rates and charges leading to cashflow issues within the current year.					
Consequence Likelihood Rating					
Moderate Likely Medium					
Action/Strategy					
Ensure debt collec	tions are rigorously m	aintained.			

CONCLUSION

21. With a current collection rate for the financial year of 70.16% (compared to 69.22% last year), the City continues to effectively implement its rate collection strategy and recognises more ratepayers have chosen to pay their rates via instalments and direct debit options.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 182/2022

That Council RECEIVE the Rates Debtors Report for the Period ended 30 November 2022 (Attachment 1).

- Moved: Cr Sue Bilich
- Seconded: Cr Dylan O'Connor

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

Debtors and Creditors Report for the period ended 30 November 10.5.3. 2022

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

	Previous Iter Directorate Business Un File Referen Applicant Owner	it	Fina	oorate Services ncial Services RS-002
	Attachments	5	1. 2. 3.	Creditor Payments for period ended 30 November 2022 [10.5.3.1 - 41 pages] Summary of Debtors for the month of November 2022 [10.5.3.2 - 2 pages] Summary of Creditors for month of November 2022 [10.5.3.3 - 1 page]
TYPE OF REPORT			[
	Advocacy Executive	anothe	r leve	il is advocating on behalf of the community to l of government/body/agency il is undertaking its substantive role of direction
			and o	oversight (e.g. accepting tenders, adopting plans
	Information Legislative	Policies impacts natural applica issued	s ado s. Whe s a pe justic tions, under	o note pting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes, and en Council determines a matter that directly rson's rights and interests where the principles of the apply. Examples include town planning building licenses, other permits or licenses other Legislation or matters that could be peal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031 **Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads Objective 4.1** - To provide leadership through transparent governance.

Strategy 4.1.1 - Provide good governance.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to provide Council with the list of payments made from Municipal and Trust Fund Accounts in November 2022, in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13).
- 2. The Debtors and Creditors report provides Council with payments made from Municipal and Trust accounts together with outstanding debtors for the month of November 2022.
- 3. It is recommended that Council:
 - a) Receive the list of payments made from the Municipal and Trust Fund Accounts in November 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13); and
 - b) Receive the outstanding debtors and creditors report for the month of November 2022.

BACKGROUND

- 4. Trade Debtors and Creditors are subject to strict monitoring and control procedures.
- 5. In accordance with *the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13) reporting on payments made from Municipal Fund and Trust Fund must occur monthly.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

Debtors

- Sundry debtors as of 30 November 2022 were \$304,685. This includes \$254,176 of current debts and \$1,058 unallocated credits (excess or overpayments).
- 7. Invoices over 30 days total \$12,888 debts of significance:
 - a) Education Department, \$4,499 KPAC shared facility reimbursement;
 - b) BMJ Hospitality Pty Ltd / Mason and Bird, \$3,119 Lease fees; and
 - c) City of Kalgoorlie Boulder, \$1,960 GIS shared services;
- 8. Invoices over 60 days total \$21,389, debts of significance:
 - a) Public Transport Authority, \$9,186, Supply and Install Street Trees;
 - b) Telstra, \$6,451, Telecommunications Tower Lease;
 - c) High Wycombe Junior Football Club, \$1,530, Utilities;
 - d) Arise Emmanuel Kingdom, \$1,196, Hall Hire;

- e) Carmel Adventist College, \$1,128, Hall Hire; and
- f) Recreation Road Pty Ltd, \$1,108, Replacement Verge Trees.
- 9. Invoices over 90 days total \$17,289 debts of significance:
 - a) Private Citizen, \$9,281, Fire Break Reimbursement; and
 - b) Private Citizen, \$4,070, Fire Break Reimbursement.

Creditors

10. Payments totalling \$4,621,981 were made during the month of November 2022.

Standard payment terms are 30 days from the end of the month, with local businesses and contractors on 14-day terms.

11. Significant Municipal payments (GST inclusive – where applicable) made in the month were:

Supplier	Purpose	\$
Australian Tax Office	PAYG payments	422,508.68
Eastern Metropolitan Regional Council (EMRC)	Domestic waste charges – disposal fees	398,720.68
Cleanaway	Waste/recycling and bulk bin disposal services	369,026.18
Satterley Property Group Pty Ltd	Release of private works bond – The Hales Estate stage 8	277,850.00
Western Australian Treasury Corporation	Loan instalment repayment – loans 231to 239	270,750.63
Beaver Tree Services	General tree services, under powerline pruning for various locations	208,846.54
AWARE Super Pty Ltd	Superannuation contributions	193,356.59
Synergy	Power charges – various locations	138,635.00
Merger Contracting P/L Trading as J&M Asphalt	Supply and install asphalt and minor asphalt renewal – Abernethy Road	130,345.06
Pickering Brook Sports Club INC	Conversion of existing grass bowling greens to a synthetic bowls surface	105,005.00
McKay Earthmoving Pty Ltd	Plant equipment and operator hire for various locations	78,249.14
Dowsing Group Pty Ltd	Supply & lay concrete pathways, maintenance & miscellaneous works at various locations	71,869.49

OCE Corporate Pty Ltd	Cleaning services, consumables	54,196.72
	for various locations	

These payments total \$2,719,359.71 and represent 59% of all payments for the month.

Payroll

- 12. Salaries are paid in fortnightly cycles. A total of \$1,276,088.34 was paid in net salaries for the month of November 2022.
- 13. Details are provided in (Attachment 1) after the creditor's payment listing.

Trust Account Payments

- 14. The Trust Accounts maintained by the City of Kalamunda (City) relate to the following types:
 - a) CELL 9 Trust;
 - b) Public Open Space funds;
 - c) NBN Tower Pickering Brook Trust
- 15. The following payments (GST exclusive) were made from the Trust Accounts in November 2022.

CELL 9	Amount (\$)	
Date	Description	
24/11/2022	Marketforce Pty Ltd – West Australian advertisement for RFT 2206 Woodlupine Brook	571.20
24/11/2022	Illion Australia Pty Ltd – RFT 2206 Woodlupine Wattle Grove Living Stream – Tenderlink public advertising	185.00
24/11/2022	Talis Consulting Pty Ltd – Additional works required for design scope for Woodlupine Living stream Wattle Grove	2,720.00

APPLICABLE LAW

- 16. Regulation 12(1) of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996.
- 17. Regulation 13 of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations* 1996.

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 18. Debt Collection Policy S-FIN02.
- 19. Register of Delegations from Council to CEO.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Internal Referrals

20. Various business units are engaged to resolve outstanding debtors and creditors as required.

External Referrals

21. Debt collection matters are referred to the City's appointed debt collection agency when required.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

22. The City will continue to closely manage debtors and creditors to ensure optimal cash flow management.

SUSTAINABILITY

23. Nil.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Debtors

24.

Risk: The City is exposed to the potential risk of the debtor failing to make payments resulting in the disruption of cash flow.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Insignificant	Possible	Low
Action/Strategy		
Ensure debt collectio	ns are rigorously manage	ed.

Creditors

25.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Insignificant	Possible	Low
Action/Strategy	·	· ·

CONCLUSION

26. Creditor payments are within the normal trend.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 183/2022

- 1. RECEIVE the list of payments made from the Municipal Accounts in November 2022 (Attachment 1) in accordance with the requirements of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* (Regulation 13).
- 2. RECEIVE the outstanding debtors and creditors report (Attachments 2 &3) for the month of November 2022.
- Moved: Cr Geoff Stallard
- Seconded: Cr Dylan O'Connor
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

10.5.4. South West Native Title Settlement - City of Kalamunda Comments on Land Base Consultation - Land List 1324

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous Items	OCM 31/2021
Directorate	Corporate Services
Business Unit	Economic & Cultural Services
File Reference	3.000738
Applicant	Department of Planning, Lands & Heritage
Owner	State of Western Australia
•··· • ·	
Attachments	1. City Response to DPLH Queries Table [10.5.4.1 - 6
	pages]

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
0	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 3: Kalamunda Develops

Objective 3.2 - To connect community to quality amenities. *Strategy 3.2.1* - Optimal management of all assets.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The purpose of this report is to consider the City of Kalamunda (City)'s response to the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) regarding land identified by the State Government (State) for possible transfer to the Noongar People as part of the South West Native Title Settlement (Settlement).

- 2. The following parcels of land within the City have been identified:
 - a) Lot 300 on Deposited Plan 222582, Kalamunda (no street address);
 - b) Lot 65 (3) Grove Road, Walliston;
 - c) Lot 66 (5) Grove Road, Walliston;
 - d) Lot 49 (18) Caladenia Road, Walliston;
 - e) Lot 590 (24) East Terrace, Kalamunda;
 - f) Lot 148 (50) Moffett Road, Carmel (PIN 259552);
 - g) Lot 189 (26) Peoples Avenue, Gooseberry Hill;
 - h) Lot 59 (40) Wilkins Road, Kalamunda;
 - i) Lot 148 (50) Moffett Road, Carmel (PIN 259989); and
 - j) Lot 64 (15) Kennedya Road, Walliston.
- 3. It is recommended Council support the transfer of the subject sites to the Noongar People in principle, but advise the DPLH of constraints and community values associated with the sites for the DPLH's further consideration.

BACKGROUND

- 4. The Settlement is a landmark native title agreement reached between the State and the six Noongar Agreement Groups. The six requisite Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs) were conclusively registered, leading to the Settlement commencing on 25 February 2021 after some years of delay. The Settlement recognises the Agreement Groups as the Traditional Owners of the south west of Western Australia, while resolving native title in exchange for a negotiated package of benefits.
- 5. A key negotiated benefit is the delivery of a 320,000 hectare Noongar Land Estate, in accordance with the Noongar Land Base Strategy. The Noongar Land Estate will contain up to 300,000 hectares of land transferred in reserve or leasehold, and up to 20,000 hectares of land transferred in freehold. The Landholding Body for all land transferred is the Noongar Boodja Land Sub Pty Ltd, which will hold and manage the land in the Noongar Land Estate in consultation with the soon to be established Noongar Regional Corporations. All land will be used and managed in line with Noongar cultural, social and economic aspirations for the benefit of generations to come.
- Over the next five years, the DPLH will progress selected land parcels through to transfer under the Settlement, subject to all necessary consultation and approvals with stakeholders. Land eligible for inclusion in the Noongar Land Estate includes:
 - a) unallocated Crown land;
 - b) unmanaged reserves;

- c) land owned or held by the Aboriginal Lands Trust / Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority; and
- d) land owned or held by State agencies or Local Government Authorities, at the discretion of the State agency or Local Government Authority.
- 7. A key part of the process being followed by the DPLH involves the referral of land under consideration for inclusion in the Noongar Land Estate to relevant State agencies and Local Government Authorities.
- 8. On 2 November 2022, the City received email correspondence from the DPLH requesting comment on the proposed transfer of sites within the City to the Noongar People as part of the Settlement.
- 9. All the subject sites are Crown land. The City does not own or manage any of the parcels of land.
- 10. The questions that the DPLH has asked the City in respect of each land parcel are as follows:
 - a) Is the City supportive of the transfer of this land to the Noongar People under the Settlement?
 - b) Does the City have any interest in the land?
 - c) Does the City have existing or planned infrastructure within the land parcel that requires protection? If yes, please provide details and advise if access to this infrastructure will need to be maintained.
 - d) Is the land parcel subject to any mandatory connection to services?
 - e) Are any future proposals for the land identified? Please provide detail of what is proposed and in what timeframe?
 - f) Are there any future proposals for adjoining land that may affect the land identified in the spreadsheet? If so, in what timeframe?
 - g) Please advise of any proposed planning scheme amendments that may affect the zoning of this land at a State or Local government level. If a scheme amendment is to occur, what is the change proposed and when will it come into effect?
 - Please advise of any known land management issues such as site contamination, hazards, debris or rubbish dumping, unauthorised land use and environmental considerations (such as inundation or similar site constraints).
 - i) Please provide any additional comments on the proposed transfer of this land as part of the Settlement.
- 11. The DPLH requested the City to provide its comments by 12 December 2022. The City requested an extension of time until February / March 2023 to enable the City to undertake community consultation. The DPLH was unable to provide the requested extension due to deadlines under the Settlement. However, the DPLH was willing to extend the deadline to 16

December 2022, to enable the matter to be referred to the 13 December 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

Strategic Planning Comments

- 12. With regard to Lot 148 (50) Moffett Rd, Carmel, the City is aware that some landowners adjoining Moffett and Tanner Road are advocating for strategic identification of land use change from the current Rural Agriculture zoning to a zone that will allow for further subdivision of large lots. There are no timeframes or determinations associated with any land use change. This will likely be explored in the City's Local Planning Strategy that is currently under preparation.
- 13. It is noted that:
 - a) The subject sites are considered to contain values that contribute towards the amenity of adjoining and nearby residents;
 - b) The vegetation on the subject sites appears to be native and is significantly established, and may be perceived by the community to constitute a form of pseudo-public open space;
 - c) The City has identified potential environmental values on the subject sites;
 - Clearing of the subject sites for development purposes would not be consistent with the objectives of the City's draft Urban Forest Strategy;
 - e) Any proposed use or development would be subject to community consultation and Council determination; and
 - f) The City has a preference to have the sites reserved to Parks and Recreation under the Metropolitan Region Scheme.

Asset Management Comments

14. A section of Council pathway is within 24 East Terrace, Kalamunda. The transfer of this land would impair the amenity for pedestrians using the path to access the adjacent reserve. The bare earth pathway that exists has also been improved to firebreak standards over recent years to provide additional firefighting capacity within the City noting the larger adjacent bushland reserve in close proximity to developed residential properties. Access to the pathway must be maintained for firefighting purposes.



15. The site at 26 Peoples Avenue, Gooseberry Hill acts as a drainage outfall from adjacent / nearby streets. If the land were to be transferred, it would need to be transferred with an easement over most of it for drainage purposes or only a reduced portion of the site be transferred to enable retention of the remainder of the site for the creation of a drainage sump, neither of which is practical. The drainage functionality of the site must be maintained.



16. A portion of Francis Road transects the upper north west corner of 50 Moffett Road, Carmel. It is proposed that the City's support of the transfer be conditional on the portion of land containing Francis Road being excised prior to the transfer and dedicated as road reserve under the City's care and control.



DPLH Queries

17. The City's proposed responses to the DPLH questions about the subject sites are contained in the attached table (Attachment 1).

APPLICABLE LAW

- 18. Noongar (Koorah, Nitja, Boordahwan) (Past, Present, Future) Recognition Act 2016.
- 19. *Land Administration Act 1997.*

APPLICABLE POLICY

- 20. Urban Forest Strategy (Draft).
- 21. Local Biodiversity Strategy (Draft).

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 22. As a result of the tight timeframe applied to the City for completion of its response, no public consultation has been undertaken by the DPLH in relation to the identification of the subject sites for possible transfer under the Settlement.
- 23. Given that the City does not own or manage the parcels of land being considered for transfer to the Noongar People, it is not considered to be the City's role to undertake public consultation in respect of the proposal.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

24. The sites are currently non-rateable. If the land were to be transferred to the Noongar People, the use of the land would need to be investigated in order to determine whether or not the land is rateable.

SUSTAINABILITY

- 25. If the sites are transferred to the Noongar People, the sites may be developed in accordance with the zoning and residential density under the City's Local Planning Scheme, which would likely result in vegetation being cleared from the sites.
- 26. Should these lots transfer ownership, then the City's Fire Hazard Reduction Notice may take effect.

RISK MANAGEMENT

27. **Risk**: Reputational damage to the City if the City provides support to the proposal and the sites are perceived by the community to constitute a form of pseudo-public open space, noting that there has been no opportunity for community consultation.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Significant	Likely	High
Action/Strategy		
in principle, and advi	transfer of the subject site ise the DPLH of constraint sites for the DPLH's furthe	s and community values

CONCLUSION

28. It is recommended that Council SUPPORT the transfer of the subject sites to the Noongar People in principle, and advise the DPLH of constraints and community values associated with the sites for the DPLH's further consideration.

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 184/2022

That Council:

- 1. SUPPORT IN PRINCIPLE, the transfer of the following sites to the Noongar People:
 - a) Lot 300 on Deposited Plan 222582, Kalamunda (no street address);
 - b) Lot 65 (3) Grove Road, Walliston;
 - c) Lot 66 (5) Grove Road, Walliston;
 - d) Lot 49 (18) Caladenia Road, Walliston;
 - e) Lot 590 (24) East Terrace, Kalamunda;
 - f) Lot 148 (50) Moffett Road, Carmel (PIN 259552);
 - g) Lot 189 (26) Peoples Avenue, Gooseberry Hill;
 - h) Lot 59 (40) Wilkins Road, Kalamunda;
 - i) Lot 148 (50) Moffett Road, Carmel (PIN 259989); and
 - j) Lot 64 (15) Kennedya Road, Walliston;

subject to the following conditions:

- In respect of Lot 590 (24) East Terrace, Kalamunda, Council's in principle support is subject to the firefighting functionality of the site being maintained;
- In respect of Lot 189 (26) Peoples Avenue, Gooseberry Hill, Council's in principle support is subject to the drainage functionality of the site being maintained; and
- In respect of Lot 148 (50) Moffett Road, Carmel (PIN 259989),
 Council's in principle support is subject to the excision and dedication of the portion of land which contains a section of Francis Road;

and subject to the Noongar People being made aware of the following potential constraints to the possible future development and/or use of the subject sites:

- n) The subject sites are considered to contain values that contribute towards the amenity of adjoining and nearby residents;
- The vegetation on the subject sites appears to be native and is significantly established, and may be perceived by the community to constitute a form of pseudo-public open space;
- p) The City of Kalamunda has identified potential environmental values on the subject sites;

- q) Clearing of the subject sites for development purposes would not be consistent with the objectives of the City of Kalamunda's draft Urban Forest Strategy;
- r) Any proposed use or development would be subject to community consultation and Council determination; and
- s) A Council preference to have the sites reserved to Parks and Recreation under the Metropolitan Region Scheme.
- 2. NOTE the proposed responses to be provided to the Department of Planning, Lands & Heritage questions about the subject sites, which are contained in the attached table (Attachment 1).

Moved: Cr Brooke O'Donnell

Seconded: Cr Janelle Sewell

Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

10.5.5. Local Government Elections - Appointment of Electoral Commissioner

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous	
ltems	
Directorate	CEO's Office
Business Unit	Governance
File Reference	
Applicant	
Owner	

Attachments Nil

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
V	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance. *Strategy 4.1.1* - Provide good governance.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. The purpose of this report is to consider the method of conduct of future local government elections for the City of Kalamunda (City) and appoint the WA Electoral Commissioner to conduct the elections.
- 2. Since 1999 the City has conducted postal elections rather than in-person elections and it is considered that this should continue.
- 3. It is recommended that postal elections continue to be the preferred method for the next 5 years and that the WA Electoral Commissioner be appointed to conduct the elections for 5 years from 1 January 2023.

BACKGROUND

4. The *Local Government Act 1995* provides that local government elections can be held as either in person or postal elections. The City has conducted postal rather than in person elections since the 1999 Ordinary Local Government Election.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 5. The conduct of local government elections as postal elections rather than in person, has now become firmly established as the preferred method of election across local government in WA rather than an in-person election. In addition, postal elections generally result in an increase in elector participation, particularly in the metropolitan and major country local governments.
- 6. Since the introduction of postal elections in 1995, the number of local governments utilising this system has gradually increased to the point that in 2021, 98 local governments covering more than 90% of eligible electors, conducted postal elections.
- 7. It is proposed that the City continue to hold postal elections, rather than revert to in-person elections and that the W.A. Electoral Commissioner be appointed to conduct the elections..
- 8. Whilst it is acknowledged that the cost for the WA Electoral Commission to conduct the elections appears to be expensive, it would be a significant logistical exercise for the City to organise and conduct the election on an in-person basis. An in-person election will require significant administration resources, both physical and timewise which will impact on normal operations.

9. Additionally, it is considered expedient for the appointment to be for a period of five (5) years. This will obviate the need for individual appointments for the normal local government elections or any extraordinary elections that might arise.

APPLICABLE LAW

- 10. Section 4.20(4) of the Local Government Act 1995 allows a local government to declare the Electoral Commissioner to be responsible for the conduct of an election, or all elections conducted within a particular period of time (absolute majority required).
- 11. Section 4.61(2) of the Local Government Act 1995 states that a local government may decide to conduct the election as a postal election (absolute majority required). This decision has no effect unless it is made after a declaration is made under Section 4.20(4) of the Local Government Act 1995 that the Electoral Commissioner is to be responsible for the conduct of the election, or in conjunction with such a declaration.

APPLICABLE POLICY

12. Nil

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

13. Not required for this issue.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

14. None from this report, as funding to conduct elections is allocated through the annual budget process.

SUSTAINABILITY

15. N/A

RISK MANAGEMENT

16.

Risk: Council proposes an in-person election rather than a postal election

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating	
Moderate	Unlikely	Low	
Action/Strategy			
Encura thora is an	understanding that t	conduct on in porson alor	tion

Ensure there is an understanding that to conduct an in-person election will require significant administration resources, both physical and timewise which will impact on normal operations.

17.

Risk: Council does not approve appointment of WA Electoral Commissioner to be responsible for elections.

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Moderate	Unlikely	Low
Action/Strategy	•	
Ensure the Council is	s aware of the efficiencies	for the City in appointing
the electoral commis	ssioner to be responsible	for the elections.

CONCLUSION

- 18. The continuation of postal voting for the City's local government elections is considered appropriate.
- 19. Appointment of the WA Electoral Commissioner to be responsible for all elections for a five (5) year period is expedient and obviates the need for individual decisions for each election.
- 20. It is open to Council to cancel this appointment at any time in the future.

Voting Requirements: Absolute Majority

RESOLVED OCM 185/2022

That Council:

1. DECLARE the Western Australian Electoral Commissioner responsible for the conduct of all local government elections for the City of Kalamunda for five (5) years from 1 January 2023.

- APPROVE all local government elections for the period 1 January 2023 until 31 December 2027 for the City of Kalamunda be conducted as postal elections.
- Moved: Cr Sue Bilich
- Seconded: Cr Geoff Stallard
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY/ABSOLUTE MAJORITY (12/0)

10.5.6. Annual Report 2022

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

Previous	Nil
ltems	
Directorate	Office of the CEO
Business Unit	Customer and PR
File Reference	
Applicant	City of Kalamunda
Owner	City of Kalamunda

Attachments

TYPE OF REPORT

	Advocacy	When Council is advocating on behalf of the community to another level of government/body/agency
0	Executive	When Council is undertaking its substantive role of direction setting and oversight (eg accepting tenders, adopting plans and budgets
	Information	For Council to note
	Legislative	Includes adopting Local Laws, Town Planning Schemes and Policies. When Council determines a matter that directly impacts a person's rights and interests where the principles of natural justice apply. Examples include town planning applications, building licences, other permits or licences issued under other Legislation or matters that could be subject to appeal to the State Administrative Tribunal

STRATEGIC PLANNING ALIGNMENT

Kalamunda Advancing Strategic Community Plan to 2031

Priority 4: Kalamunda Leads

Objective 4.1 - To provide leadership through transparent governance. *Strategy 4.1.1* - Provide good governance.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 The purpose of this report is to accept the City of Kalamunda (City) 2021/2022 Annual Report and set the date for the Annual General Meeting of Electors.

- 2. The statutory Annual Report is prepared to advise the Community on the activities of the local government. It also contains the audited Annual Financial Report.
- 3. It is recommended Council accepts the 2021/2022 Annual Report and sets Tuesday 7 February 2023 as the date for the Annual General Meeting of Electors.

BACKGROUND

- 4. Section 5.53 of the Local Government Act 1995 (Act) requires a local government to prepare an Annual Report for each financial year and details what the Annual Report is to contain.
- 5. Section 5.54 of the Act requires a local government to accept the Annual Report for a financial year no later than 31 December in the year after that financial year, subject to the availability of the Auditor's Report.
- 6. Section 5.55 of the Act requires the Chief Executive Officer to give local public notice of the availability of the Annual Report as soon as practicable after the Annual Report has been accepted by the local government.
- 7. Section 5.27 of the Act requires that a general meeting of the electors of a district is to be held once every financial year.

DETAILS AND ANALYSIS

- 8. The statutory Annual Report is prepared to advise the Community on the activities of the local government. It reports on the annual outcomes achieved by the organisation against the strategic priorities, objectives and strategies set out in the Strategic Community Plan Kalamunda Advancing.
- 9. The Annual Report contains the audited Annual Financial Report and Audit Report.
- 10. The 2021/2022 Annual report includes all information as required in accordance with changes in the Regulations, including demographic information provided related to elected members.

APPLICABLE LAW

11. Local Government Act 1995.

APPLICABLE POLICY

12. There are no policy considerations with respect to the Annual Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

- 13. All Directorates within the City of Kalamunda have been involved in the preparation of the 2021/2022 Annual Report.
- 14. Section 5.55 of the Act requires that the Chief Executive Officer give local public notice of the availability of the Annual Report as soon as practicable after the Annual Report has been accepted by the local government.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

15. The costs of preparing and printing the Annual Report are funded within the existing budget.

SUSTAINABILITY

16. N/A

17.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Consequence	Likelihood	Rating
Moderate	Unlikely	Low
Action/Strategy	· ·	

CONCLUSION

The Annual Report demonstrates that the City is meeting its strategic priorities, objectives and strategies as set out in the Strategic Community Plan.

Voting Requirements: Absolute Majority

RESOLVED OCM 186/2022

1.	ACCEPT the 2021/2022 Annual Report (Attachment 1) in accordance with Section 5.54 of the <i>Local Government Act 1995.</i>
2.	AGREE the Annual General Meeting of Electors be held on 7 February 2023.
Moved:	Cr John Giardina
Seconded:	Cr Sue Bilich
Vote:	

10.6. Audit & Risk Committee

10.6.1. Audit & Risk Committee Recommendations

RESOLVED OCM 187/2022

That the recommendations of the Audit & Risk Committee held on 6 December 2022 be adopted en bloc.

Moved: Cr Janelle Se	ewell
----------------------	-------

- Seconded: Cr Brooke O'Donnell
- Vote: CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

10.6.2. A&R9.3.1 Information Systems Audit Results for the year ended 30 June 2022

EN BLOC RESOLUTION OCM 187/2022

That Council ACCEPT the Information Systems Audit findings Report for the financial year ending 30 June 2022 (Confidential Attachment 1).

Moved:	Cr Janelle Sewell
Seconded:	Cr Brooke O'Donnell
Vote:	CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

10.6.3. A&R9.3.2 Adoption of Annual Financial Report 2021/2022

EN BLOC RESOLUTION OCM 187/2022

- 1. ACCEPT the 2021/2022 Annual Financial Report (Attachment 1) prepared in accordance with Section 6.4 of the *Local Government Act 1995*.
- 2. NOTE the content of the Management Letter issued by the Office of the Auditor General (Confidential Attachment 1).

NOTE the content of the memorandum prepared to address the significant audit findings mentioned in the auditor's report. (Attachment 2).

Moved:	Cr Janelle Sewell
Seconded:	Cr Brooke O'Donnell
Vote:	CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY (12/0)

11. Motions of Which Previous Notice has been Given

11.1. Fire Hazard Reduction Notice Inspections

Voting Requirements: Simple Majority

RESOLVED OCM 176/2022

- 1. REQUEST the Chief Executive Officer review the City of Kalamunda's Fire Hazard Assessment Plan 2022/23 to revise the fire hazard inspection process to introduce workorders without infringements on first inspections and to only issue infringements on properties that are noncompliant on follow-up inspections and after the first workorder has been issued.
- 2. REQUEST the Chief Executive Officer to review all infringements issued in the 2022/23 fire season to align with the process outlined in Point 1.
- REQUEST the City of Kalamunda Bush Fire Advisory
 Committee provide Council advice on the standard of fire breaks to assist with informing the City's Fire Hazard Reduction Notice for 2023/24.
- 4. REQUEST the Chief Executive Officer to engage with the leadership of the Kalamunda Volunteer Bushfire Brigade to assist with formulating a community working group to provide advice on community engagement strategies regarding private property fire preparedness.
- 5. APPOINT the Mayor and the Chairperson of the City of Kalamunda Bush Fire Advisory Committee to the community working group.

Moved: Cr John Giardina

Seconded: Cr Geoff Stallard

Vote:

For Cr John Giardina Cr Janelle Sewell Cr Geoff Stallard Cr Mary Cannon Cr Brooke O'Donnell Cr Dylan O'Connor Cr Andrew Osenton Cr Margaret Thomas <u>Against</u> Cr Kellie Miskiewicz Cr Sue Bilich Cr Lisa Cooper Cr Kathy Ritchie

CARRIED (8/4)

12. Questions by Members Without Notice

- 12.1 Cat Local Law (Cr Sewell)
- Q. Can the Council be provided with the expected time frame for the implementation of the local law?
- A. Taken on Notice

13. Questions by Members of Which Due Notice has been Given

- 13.1 <u>Parking Surveillance Haynes Street (Cr Sewell)</u> Taken on notice 22 November 2022
- Q. It has been noted there has been an increased ranger presence on Haynes Street this has resulted in parking infringements being issued. Has there been any specific traffic issues which have led to this undertaking and is this going to occur on an ongoing basis.
- A. The City Community Safety team enforce parking by either responding to customer complaints or proactive parking controls. In recent months in relation to Haynes Street there has been 1 caution issued for stopping contrary to a no stopping sign and 1 infringement for failing to park on the left of a two-way carriageway.

The City's Community Safety Team will continue to respond to customer complaints and/or undertake proactive patrols along Haynes Street and undertake enforcement actions in accordance with the City's enforcement directions and procedures.

14. Urgent Business Approved by the Presiding Member or by Decision

14.1 The Presiding Member announced there was an urgent matter which required Council's attention.

The recommendation presented in relation to Item Lot 150(720) Weslhpool Road East Wattle Grove - Proposed Garden Centre and Caretakers Dwelling was lost. Council is to resolve an alternative decision to be provided to the State Administrative Tribunal. The resolution of council is presented as part of the Item 10.1.1.

15. Meeting Closed to the Public

15.1 Nil.

16. Tabled Documents

DACAC Minutes 14 November 2022 Kalamunda Environmental and Sustainability Advisory Committee Draft Minutes-17 November 2022 LEMC MINUTES 24 November 2022 DRAFT Public Agenda Briefing Forum Notes 6 December 2022 PM Ryan – Confidential

17. Closure

There being no further business, the Presiding Member declared the Meeting closed at 9:32pm.

I confirm these Minutes to be a true and accurate record of the proceedings of this Council.

Signed: _____

Presiding Member

Dated this _____ day of _____ 2022.